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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
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(281) 2729331
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Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of Regulation5¢§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gribonth:

(or for such shorter period that the registrant veamiired to submit and post such filedd Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller repor
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Act.
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company) P 9 P
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)

Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale
Other current assets

Total current ast

Property & equipment, net of accumulated depreamri
of $1,905,854 and $1,718,477, respecti
Other lon¢-term asset

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payak
Accrued expens
Deferred revenue

Total current libtdes

Long term liabilities:
Deferred revenue, net of currentipo
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, no par value, @0,000 shares authorize
none issued and outstan
Common stock, $0.01 par value, Q00,000 shares authorize
27,661,675 and 27,546,058 e issued and outstand
Additional paid in capit
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholdexguity
Total liabilitiema stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidateddial statements

December
June 30, 31,
2014 2013
$ 16,214,690 $ 23,644,54.
1,481,52¢ 1,122,57¢
17,696,21! 24,767,11!
1,234,82¢ 1,295,02-
162,04 177,66¢
$ 19,093,088 $ 26,239,80:!
$ 835,57 $ 696,15¢
1,627,27: 1,232,99(
1,230,74¢ 1,395,34¢
3,693,58° 3,324,49:
1,846,12( 2,338,04:
5,539,70° 5,662,53:
276,617 275,461
147,363,54 146,569,75!
(134,086,77) (126,267,94)
13,553,38!I 20,577,27-
$ 19,093,088 $ 26,239,80:!




OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements

(Unaudited)
Three Months Six Months
Ended Ended
June 30, June 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenue

Option revenut $ 307,68 $ 348837 $ 656,52 $ 568,937
Research and developme 3,409,21( 2,223,03( 6,220,34¢ 3,844,39¢
General and administrati\ 967,36 750,60t 2,070,24° 1,853,04(
Depreciation and amortization 98,65¢ 88,89¢ 194,24« 167,20¢

Operating los! (4,167,549 (2,713,699 (7,828,31) (5,295,70))
Interest incomt 4,29C 3,06€ 9,484 4,94(
Other income, ne - - - 37,91(C
Interest expense - (285,800 - (1,921,059

Net loss $ (4,163,25) $ (2,996,430 $ (7,818,83) $ (7,173,91)
Basic and diluted loss per shi $ (0.15 $ 0.37) $ (0.28) $ (0.99)
Weighted average shares outstanc- Basic and dilute: 27,661,67! 7,991,55¢ 27,623,35! 7,617,40!




OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited)
Common Stock Additional
Paid in Accumulated
Shares Par Capital Deficit Total

Balances at December 31,

2013 27,546,05 $ 275,46. $146,569,75 $(126,267,94) $ 20,577,27
Shares issued for servict 115,617 1,156 152,31 — 153,470
Shares subscribed under th-the-market progran — — 49,84" — 49,84%
Option expense — — 591,62: — 591,62:
Net loss — — — (7,818,83) (7,818,83)
Balances at June 30,

2014 27,661,67 $ 276,61 $147,363,54 $(134,086,77) $ 13,553,38

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements




OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activitir
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net gasivided by (used in) operating activitit
Restricted stock issued to employ
Amortization of discount on notes payahle
to warrants and beneficial conversion fes
Depreciatiol
Amortization of debt financing co:
Option and warrant exper
Changes ir
Other current asse
Accounts payab- third parties and related parti
Accrued expens!
Deferred revent
Other assets

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of property & equipme
Restricted cash

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi

Cash flows from financing activitie
Common stock and warrants sold for cash, neffefing costs
Proceeds from third party de
Proceeds from related party d
Deferred financing and offering co:
Repayment on related party notes pay
Repayments on notes payable

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net change in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2014 2013

$ (7,818,83) $ (7,173,91)

153,47( -
- 1,382,97
194,244 167,20¢
- 98,96+
591,62- 714,87
(309,109 (369,389
132,591 635,36¢
394,281 637,63¢
(656,529 4,431,086
15,621 (96,064
(7,302,630) 428,72¢
(127,227 (22,892
500,00(

(127,227) 477,10¢
- 3,578,28!

: 550,00(

- 100,00(

: (147,847

- (100,000)

- (450,000

- 3,530,44

(7,429,85) 4,436,227t
23,644,54; 592,00-

$ 16,214,69C $ 5,028,28(




Cash paid for
Interes
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Conversion of notes payable to common si
Discount on convertible notes relating
Warrants
Beneficial conversion featu
Unpaid additions to property and equipm
Subscription receivabl
Shares issued as deferred offering ¢

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements

- $

6,82¢
49,841

19,12¢
1,000,00¢
195,96¢
141,82¢
108,607

1,234




OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim unaudited consolidatedriaial statements of Opexa Therapeutics, Inc. (3@per the “Company”have bee
prepared in accordance with accounting principlesegally accepted in the United States of Americd tne rules of the Securities i
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and should be readimjunction with the audited financial statementd antes thereto contained in Opexa’
latest Annual Report filed with the SEC on Form KLOin the opinion of management, all adjustmemtsnsisting of normal recurril
adjustments, necessary for a fair presentatiorinain€ial position and the results of operationstf@ interim periods presented have t
reflected herein. The results of operations foerimh periods are not necessarily indicative of sults to be expected for the full year. N
to the financial statements that would substantidliplicate the disclosure contained in the audftedncial statements for the most re«
fiscal year as reported in Form 10-K have beentenhit

The accompanying consolidated financial statemigniside the accounts of Opexa and its wholly owseldsidiary, Opexa Hong Ko
Limited (“*Opexa Hong Kong”). All intercompany baless and transactions have been eliminated in thsotidation.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014, the paom has elected to early adopt Accounting Starsdatddate No. 20149,
Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): EliminatiohCertain Financial Reporting Requirements. Thepsion of this ASU allows tt
Company to remove the inception to date informatiod all references to development stage.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Polices

Revenue Recognition. Opexa recognizes revenue in accordance with Eiabccounting Standards Board (“FASBAccounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605, “Revenue Redtign.” ASC 605 requires that four basic criteria must ket before revenue can
recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangemdsts; (2) delivery has occurred or servicasdeged; (3) consideration is fixed
determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonasgured.

On February 4, 2013, Opexa entered into an OptmhLacense Agreement (the “Merck Agreement”) witheé Trading SA (“Merck”)a
wholly owned subsidiary of Merck Serono S.A. Parsuto the terms, Merck has an option to acquireesiusive, worldwide (excludit
Japan) license of the Company’s Tcelna® progranthfeitreatment of multiple sclerosis (“MS"J.celna is currently in a Phase 1lb clinical t
in patients with Secondary Progressive MS (“SPM3He option may be exercised by Merck prior to poruthe Compang’ completion of th
Phase lIb Trial.

Opexa received an upfront payment of $5 million goanting the option. If the option is exercisedertk would pay the Company
upfront license fee of $25 million unless Mercluigable to advance directly into a Phase lll clihtdal of Tcelna for SPMS without a furtt
Phase Il clinical trial (as determined by Merck)which event the upfront license fee would be Bilion. After exercising the option, Mer
would be solely responsible for funding developmeagulatory and commercialization activities fazelna in MS, although the Comp:
would retain an option to cfond certain development in exchange for increaegdlty rates. The Company would also retain ggbtTceln
in Japan, certain rights with respect to the mastufa of Tcelna, and rights outside of MS.

Opexa evaluated the Merck Agreement and deterntimtdthe $5 million upfront payment from Merck Hagand-alone value.” Opex®&’
continuing performance obligations, in connectiathvthe $5 million payment, include the executiodaompletion of the Phase Ilb clini
trial in SPMS using commercially reasonable effattshe Company’s own costs. As a “stand-alonae’derm in the Merck Agreement, |
$5 million upfront payment is determined to be agk unit of accounting, and is recognized as regeon a straighline basis over tt
exclusive option period based on the expected ostiopl term of the Phase 1b clinical trial in SPMOGpexa includes the unrecognized pol
of the $5 million as deferred revenue on the cadat#d balance sheets. During the second quart2db4, Opexa adjusted the numbe
months over which it was recognizing the defermeenue from 43 to 47 months. This extension Wigrathe period for recognition of t
revenue to the present projection for expiratiothefMerck Agreement.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Opexa considers all highly liquid investmentghwan original maturity of three months or less,ew
purchased, to be cash equivalents. Investments matturities in excess of three months but less thaa year are classified as shiar
investments and are stated at fair market value.




Opexa primarily maintains cash balances on depositcounts at a U.®ased financial institution. The aggregate casanoa on depo:
in these accounts is insured by the Federal Depasitance Corporation up to $250,000. Opgxaish balances on deposit in these acc
may, at times, exceed the federally insured limidpexa has not experienced any losses in sucluaisco

At June 30, 2014, Opexa has approximately $15.5amiin a savings account. For the six months dndigne 30, 2014, the savil
account recognized an average market yield of 0.1Bf%&rest income of $9,484 was recognized forsikenonths ended June 30, 2014 ir
consolidated statements of operations.

Note 3. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the followinguae 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

June 30
Description 2014 Dec 31, 201.
Prepaid expenst $ 670,041 $ 315,01
Subscriptions receivab 49,841 -
Supplies inventor 599,57: 673,04«
Deferred offering costs 162,06¢ 134,51¢

$ 148152t $ 1,122,57¢

Prepaid expenses at June 30, 2014 and Decemb2@B3 jnclude advance payments totaling $415,685524¢0982, respectively, made
vendors and consultants for the conduct of the @Hh<linical trial in SPMS.

Prepaid expenses at June 30, 2014 and Decemb@03B82,also include costs incurred from third partiegonnection with the Meri
Agreement (see Note 2). As of June 30, 2014 arwbiDber 31, 2013, the remaining costs of $38,93®mection with the Merck Agreem
that are expected to be amortized over the upcorhifagonth period are capitalized and included in otharent assets in the consolide
balance sheets. The remaining costs of $58,40€imection with the Merck Agreement that are exgedb be amortized beyond
upcoming 12-month period are capitalized and inetlish other long term assets in the consolidatéahlba sheets (see Note 4).

Supplies inventory at June 30, 2014 and DecembgB@13 includes reagents and supplies that willged to manufacture Tcelna
placebo product in Opex@Phase lIb clinical study. Opexa expects to am®ttiese prepaid reagents and supplies to resaadctievelopme
costs in the consolidated statements of operatiwasthe course of the clinical study.

Deferred offering costs at June 30, 2014 and Deeen3fi, 2013 include costs incurred from third @artin connection with tl
implementation of a $1.5 million Purchase Agreemamovember 2012 pursuant to which Opexa hasitid to sell to Lincoln Park Capi
Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park)up to $1.5 million in shares of its common stoalhjsct to certain conditions and limitations. Aslane 30, 201
and December 31, 2013, the remaining costs of $184in connection with the implementation of theS$mnillion Purchase Agreems
remained capitalized and are included in othererurassets in the consolidated balance sheetsn tipasales of shares of common stock L
the $1.5 million Purchase Agreement, the remainaqgjtalized costs are offset against the procetsgsah sales of shares of common stock.

Deferred offering costs at June 30, 2014 also delcosts incurred from third parties in connectioth the implementation of an at-the-
market program (“ATM Agreementih March 2014 pursuant to which Opexa may sellehaf its common stock from time to time depen
upon market demand through a sales agent in tramsaceemed to be an “at-the-marketfering as defined in Rule 415 of the Securitiad
of 1933. As of June 30, 2014, the remaining ca$t$27,548 in connection with the implementationtbé ATM Agreement remain
capitalized and are included in other current asisethe consolidated balance sheets. Upon the sékhares of common stock under the /£
Agreement, the remaining capitalized costs aresbfgainst the proceeds of such sales of shasmhon stock.

Note 4. Other Long Term Assets
Other long term assets at June 30, 2014 and Dece3tb2013 include deferred offering costs of $638,which were incurred from th

parties in connection with the implementation &1&.0 million Purchase Agreement in November 2003yant to which Opexa has the r
to sell to Lincoln Park up to $15.0 million in skarof its common stock, subject to certain condgtiand limitations.




Other long term assets at June 30, 2014 and Dece3th2013 also include costs incurred from thiagtips in connection with the Metr
Agreement (see Note 2) amount to $58,409 thatxgreated to be amortized beyond the upcoming 12-mpaetiod.

Note 5. Equity
For the six months ended June 30, 2014, equityeettaansactions were as follows:

e Opexa recognized stock based compensation expérB&7B14 during the six months ended June 30, 2@lated to shares
restricted common stock issued to certain memb&Gpexas management on November 8, 2013. The sharesdviestell o
February 28, 201«

e On February 28, 2014, 109,617 shares of restrictedmon stock with an aggregate fair value of $1@®,&ere issued to cer
members of Opexa’s management and certain non-gemldirectors for service on Opesa@oard. Opexa recognized stock k
compensation expense of $71,656 related to themeslduring the six months ended June 30, 2014 rddtacted shares issue
management vest in full on the earlier of the fshiversary of the grant date or termination oplryment without cause followin
change of control. The restricted shares issuatbteemployee directors vest in four quarterly increradogginning on March
2014.

e On March 19, 2014, 6,000 shares of restrictedmomstock with an aggregate fair value of $12,0@0enissued to a naemploye
director for service on OpexaBoard. Opexa recognized stock based compensatti$n,000 related to these shares during tl
months ended June 30, 2014. The shares vest i di@terly increments beginning on June 30, 2

e In late June 2014, Opexa sold an aggregate of 8BGAAres of common stock under the ATM Agreemengfoss and net proce
of $51,390 and $49,847, respectively. These saled and the shares were issued in early Jul4..

Note 6. Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Options

The 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plgordvides for the grant of equity incentive awardsmployees, directors and consult
of Opexa in the form of incentive stock optionsnenqualified stock options, as well as restrictmtls stock appreciation rights, restric
stock units and performance awards that may bkedett cash, stock or other property. The 2010 Bahe successor to and continuatio
Opexa’s June 2004 Compensatory Stock Option Phen“@004 Plan”)A total of 625,000 shares of common stock are ai#éd to be issue
for awards made under the 2010 Plan through Septegti20, plus (i) the number of shares subjectacksoptions outstanding under the 2
Plan that are forfeited or terminate prior to eisgcand would otherwise be returned to the shaserves under the 2004 Plan and (ii)
reserved shares under the 2004 Plan that weraswed or subject to outstanding grants. In addisbares subject to awards granted undk
2010 Plan that terminate or expire before beingased or settled will become available for grantler the 2010 Plan. As of June 30, 2
options to purchase an aggregate of 2,465,691 shane issued and outstanding.

Opexa accounts for shabased compensation, including options and nonvesttades, according to the provisions of FASB ASG,
“Share Based PaymentDuring the six months ended June 30, 2014, Opegagrézed option expense of $591,622. Unamortizedk
compensation expense as of June 30, 2014 amoun$dd783,965.




Stock Option Activity

A summary of stock option activity for thix months ended June 30, 204 presented below:

Wwitd. Avg.
Remaining
witd. Avg. Contract
Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (# years) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 20 1,162,44¢ $ 4.30
Grantec 1,350,44( 1.82
Exercisec - -
Forfeited and canceled (47,199 3.40
Outstanding at June 30, 20 2,465,69. $ 2.96 85 $ 43,36:
Exercisable at June 30, 20 828,23t $ 4.83 6.7 $ 41,84¢

Employee Options:

Option awards are granted with an exercise pricaletp the market price of Opexa’s stock at thes ddtissuance, generally have a ter
year life, and have various vesting dates thatedrgm no vesting or partial vesting upon dateraing to full vesting on a specified date. Of
estimates the fair value of stock options usingBleck-Scholes optiopricing model and records the compensation expeatably over th
service period.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014, perfocedased options to purchase an aggregate of 510tE2Bssat an exercise price
$1.82 were granted to senior management. Thesensptiave a term of ten years and vest 100% uporedher of achievement of
performanceiased, strategic milestone objective or terminatbremployment without cause following a changecohtrol. Fair value ¢
$918,554 was calculated using the Black-Scholemmptricing model. Variables used in the Black-8els optionpricing model for thes
options include (1) discount rate of 2.65%, (2)entpd term of 10 years, (3) expected volatilitl 82% and (4) zero expected dividends.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014, timsed options to purchase an aggregate of 719t@#Bssat exercise prices ranging f
$1.65 to $1.82 were granted to employees. TheB8engphave a term of ten years and have a vestihgdsile of the earlier of four years
termination of employment without cause followingclaange of control. Fair value of $1,274,918 walsutated using the Blackchole
option-pricing model. Variables used in the Bl&#oles optiorpricing model for these options include (1) disdoratie range of 2.63% a
2.79%, (2) expected term of 6.25 years, (3) expeetdatility range of 182%-186% and (4) zero expdadividends.

During the six months ended June 30, 2014, optomsirchase 47,198 shares were forfeited and dadcel
Non-Employee Options:

During the six months ended June 30, 2014, optionsurchase an aggregate of 120,440 shares atigxgmices ranging from $1.82
$2.00 were granted to non-employee directors forige on Opexa Board. Options to purchase an aggregate of 8&Bares will expire ¢
the earlier of 10 years or a change in controhef Company, with 50% of the shares vesting immelyiatnd 50% vesting on December
2014. Options to purchase an aggregate of 26,28&s have terms of 10 years, with 50% of the shaesting immediately and 50% ves
on February 28, 2015. An option to purchase 8&#tes will expire on the earlier of 10 years @hange in control of the Company, v
vesting in quarterly increments beginning on MaBdh 2014. An option to purchase 6,450 sharesenxitlire on the earlier of 10 years ¢
change in control of the Company, with vestinghiree quarterly increments beginning June 30, 204 value of $211,097 was calcule
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. hles used in the Black-Scholes optmicing model for these options include (1) disc
rate range of 2.65% and 2.77%, (2) expected terrb.26 years, (3) expected volatility range of 158%@ 157% and (4) zero expec
dividends.

Restricted Stock

See Note 5 for a description of restricted stoclkrals made to employees and reamployee directors under the 2010 Plan during itk
months ended June 30, 2014.




Warrant Activity

A summary of warrant activity for the six monthgded June 30, 2014s presented below:

Wwitd. Avg.
Remaining
witd. Avg. Contract
Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (# years) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 20 3,069,11: $ 4.12
Grantec - -
Exercisec - -
Forfeited and canceled - -
Outstanding at June 30, 20 3,069,11: $ 4.12 27 % 186,75(
Exercisable at June 30, 20 3,069,11: $ 4,12 27 % 186,75(

Note 7. Subsequent events

Subsequent to June 30, 2014 and through Augusb14, Dpexa issued an aggregate of 91,497 sharesnuhon stock under t
ATM Agreement for gross and net proceeds of $1524&81 $148,103, respectively.

10




Item 2. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Rancial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition is as of June 30, 2014. Our results of operations and cash flows should be
read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report and the audited
financial statements and the notes thereto included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwimaking statements which are made pursuant todfestsarbor provisions of Secti
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, &&ction 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended. Statements contain
this report, other than statements of historicalt,faonstitute “forward-looking statements.” The rd® “expects,” “believes,” “hopes,
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “may,” “could,” “interg]” “exploring,” “evaluating,” “progressing,” “praeding,” and similar expressions i
intended to identify forward-looking statementses$a forwardeoking statements do not constitute guarantedstofe performance. Invest
are cautioned that statements which are not strigfitorical statements, including, without limitat, statements regarding current or fu
financial payments, returns, royalties, performaand position, managemeststrategy, plans and objectives for future openati plans ar
objectives for product development (including farelha (imilecleucel T)), plans and objectives foegent and future clinical trials and res
of such trials, plans and objectives for regulatapproval, litigation, intellectual property, pradudevelopment, manufacturing plans
performance, and management’s initiatives andegias$, constitute forward-looking statements. Soclard{ooking statements are subjec
a number of risks and uncertainties that could €aatual results to differ materially from thosdicpated. These risks and uncertair
include, but are not limited to, those risks disagsin “Risk Factors,” as well as, without limitatj risks associated with:

market conditions

our capital position

our ability to compete with larger, better finang#gdhrmaceutical and biotechnology compar

new approaches to the treatment of our targetezhsies such as Multiple Sclerosis (V

our expectation of incurring continued loss

our uncertainty of developing a marketable prod

our ability to raise additional capital to contéour development programs (including to undertaietcomplete any ongoing or

further clinical studies for Tcelna or clinical dtas related to our-cell platform);

our ability to maintain compliance with NASDAQ lisgy standards

e the success of our clinical trials (including tease IIb trial for Tcelnha in secondary progressits which, depending upon results,
may determine whether Ares Trading SA (Merck), allyhowned subsidiary of Merck Serono S.A., eldotexercise its option
(Option) to acquire an exclusive, worldwide (exéhgdJapan) license of our Tcelna program for thattnent of MS)

e whether Merck exercises its Option and, if soethlker we receive any development or commerciatinatiilestone payments or

royalties from Merck pursuant to the Opti

e  our dependence (if Merck exercises its Option)henresources and abilities of Merck for the furtthevelopment of Tceln:

e the efficacy of Tcelna for any particular indicatjsuch as for relapsing remitting MS or secongaogressive MS

e  our ability to develop and commercialize produ

e  our ability to obtain required regulatory approv:

e  our compliance with all Food and Drug Administrati@gulations

e  our ability to obtain, maintain and protect intetigal property rights (including for Tcelna anduitg pipeline candidates

e the risk of litigation regarding our intellectualoperty rights or the rights of third partie

e the success of third party development and comialezration efforts with respect to products coveby intellectual property rights
that we may license or transfi

e  our limited manufacturing capabilitie

e  our dependence on th-party suppliers and manufacture

e  our ability to hire and retain skilled personr

e  our volatile stock price; an

e  other risks detailed in our filings with the Seties and Exchange Commissic

These forwardeoking statements speak only as of the date sfrégort. We assume no obligation or undertakingpidate or revise a
forward{ooking statements contained herein to reflect @mnges in its expectations with regard theretangrchange in events, condition:
circumstances on which any such statement is bagmdshould, however, review additional disclosunes make in our Annual Reports
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and €utrReports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

11




Business Overview

Unless otherwise indicated, we use “Opexa,” “thenfany,” “we,” “our” and “us” to refer to the busisses of Opexa Therapeutics, Inc.

Opexa is a biopharmaceutical company developing@raomalized immunotherapy with the potential t@ttrmajor illnesses, includii
multiple sclerosis (MS). This therapy is based anmroprietary Teell technology. Our mission is to lead the fiefdPoecision Immunothera,
™ by aligning the interests of patients, employees strareholders. Information related to our prodactdidate, Tcelna®s preliminary an
investigative. Tcelna has not been approved bytise Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or otheolghl regulatory agencies for marketi

MS is an inflammatory autoimmune disease of theraémervous system (CNS), which is made up ofliten, spinal cord and op
nerves, with a clinically heterogeneous and ungtallie course that persists for decades. MS attinek covering surrounding nerve cells
myelin sheaths, leading to loss of myelin (demylon) and nerve damage. In addition to demyelimatihe neuropathology of MS
characterized by variable loss of oligodendrogiells and axonal degeneration and manifests inohagical deficits. Symptoms may be m
such as numbness in the limbs, or severe, suchralygis or loss of vision. This inflammatory, destigating, autoimmune disease has ve
clinical presentations, ranging from relapses amissions (relapsing remitting MS, or RRMS) to slaecumulation of disability with
without relapses (secondary progressive MS, or SPMS8ere are approximately 450,000 MS patientbdlanth America and over 2,000,C
patients worldwide according to estimates from Naional MS Society. The portion of the MS patigapulation that can be classifiec
SPMS is estimated by various industry sources todbeeen 30-45% of the total MS patient population.

We believe that our product candidate, Tcelna, th&s potential to fundamentally address the rootseaaf MS by stopping tl
demyelination process and supporting the generatiarew myelin sheaths where demyelination has medu(remyelination). Tcelna is
autologous T-cell immunotherapy that is currentginiy developed for the treatment of SPMS and igifipally tailored to each patierst’
immune response profile to myelin. Tcelna is desijto reduce the number and/or functional actigftgpecific subsets of myelin-reactive T-
cells (MRTCs) known to attack myelin. This techrgplavas originally licensed from Baylor College otlicine in 2001.

Tcelna is manufactured using our proprietary metloodhe production of an autologousc&H product, which comprises the collectiol
blood from the MS patient and the expansion of MRT@m the blood. Upon completion of the manufaomiprocess, an annual coursi
therapy consisting of five doses is cryopreservitieach dosing time point, a single dose of Tcédn@rmulated and attenuated by irradia
before returning the final product to the clinisék for subcutaneous administration to the patient

Tcelna has received Fast Track designation fromRB& in SPMS, and we believe it is positioned agpatential first-tomarke
personalized T-cell therapy for MS patients. TheAF®DFast Track program is designed to facilitateddyeelopment and expedite the revie
drug candidates intended to treat serious or fifegtening conditions and that demonstrate thenfiat¢éo address unmet medical needs.

Opexa was incorporated in Texas in March 1991. pnncipal executive offices are located at 2635 hhedogy Forest Blvd., Tt
Woodlands, Texas 77381, and our telephone nursk{@sil) 775-0600.

Multiple Sclerosis—Background

MS is a disease that is more common in females thales (2:1) between the ages of 20 and 40, wjihak onset of approximately
years of age. MS frequently causes impairment dbmaensory, coordination and balance, visual/@rmbgnitive functions, as well as urin
(bladder) or bowel dysfunction and symptoms ofgfiaéi. The identified autoimmune mechanisms direatedyelin tissue of the CNS may p
an important role in the pathogenesis of MS. Epidéagic studies suggest that a variety of genétienunologic, and environmental fact
including viral infections may play a role in defig the etiology and in triggering the onset anaigpession of MS.

At the onset of MS, approximately 85% of MS patiehfive RRMS. Without disease-modifying medicatiomehalf of these RRM

patients will develop steadily progressive dise&@MS, within 10 years, increasing to 90% withiny2ars of MS diagnosis. The MS d
market was approximately $13 billion in 2012 anébigcasted to reach as much as $16 billion by 2015
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MS remains a challenging autoimmune disease tt liexsause the pathophysiologic mechanisms aresdivand the chronic, unpredicte
course of the disease makes it difficult to deteemivhether the favorable effects of sherim treatment will be sustained. Therapies the
easy to use and can safely prevent or stop thegssign of disease represent the greatest unmetimags.

In recent years, the understanding of MS pathogehes evolved to comprise an initial, T-celediated inflammatory activity followed
selective demyelination (erosion of the myelin augtof the nerve fibers) and then neurodegenerafidre discovery of diseaselevan
immune responses has accelerated the developm&rgeted therapeutic products for the treatmenhefearly stages of MS. Some subijt
who have the appropriate genetic background, hasreased susceptibility for the in vivo activatamd expansion of MRTCs. These MR”
may remain dormant, but at some point they arevaietil in the periphery, thus enabling them to ctbesbloodbrain barrier and infiltrate tl
healthy tissue of the brain and spinal cord. Trezade of pathogenic events leads to demyelinafipnodrusions from nerve cells called axc
which causes nerve impulse transmissions to diffuteethe tissue resulting in disability to the iwidual.

Tcelna for MS

We believe that Tcelna works selectively on the MRTby harnessing the bodynatural immune defense system and feec
mechanisms to deplete thesecdlls and induce favorable immune regulatory respsnby rebalancing the immune system. Tcelna
personalized immunotherapy that is specificallyotaid to each patient’'s disease profile. Tcelnananufactured by using ImmPath®ut
proprietary method for the production of a patispécific T<cell immunotherapy which encompasses the colleatibblood from the M.
patient, isolation of peripheral blood mononuclealls, generation of an autologous pool of MRTGseth against selected peptides f
myelin basic protein (MBP), myelin oligodendrocyiéycoprotein (MOG) and proteolipid protein (PLP)panding these MRTCs to
therapeutic dose exivo, and attenuating them with gamma irradiationptevent DNA replication and thereby cellular geshtion. Thes
attenuated MRTCs are then injected subcutaneontgtie body in therapeutic dosages. The body rézeg specific Teell receptor molecul
of these MRTCs as immunogenic and initiates an imemesponse reaction against them, resulting imépéetion and/or immunosuppress
of circulating MRTCs carrying the peptide-specifiecell receptor molecules. In addition, we beligkiat T-cell activation molecules on t
surface of the activated MRTCs promote anti-inflaamony responses. We believe that because the thesss an individuad' own cells, th
only direct identifiable side effect observed tlfasis injection site reactions which typically arénor and generally clear within 24 hours.

Tcelna Clinical Development Program

Tcelna is a novel Tell immunotherapy in Phase IIb clinical developiim the treatment of patients with SPMS. It iscapositioned 1
enter Phase Il clinical development for the treatinof patients with RRMS, subject to the avail@pibf sufficient resources or a strate
partnering commitment.

The Tcelna clinical development program spans studonducted by Baylor College of Medicine and ipgxa.
Summary of Phase | Dose Escalation Study in MS

A Phase 1 dose escalation study completed in 2086 aonducted in patients with both RRMS and SPM$ wikre intolerant «
unresponsive to current approved therapies for Mi®.openlabel, dose escalation study evaluated safety Bmdat benefit by administering
primary series of four treatments at one of thresedlevels administered at baseline and weeksa#d812. Results of the efficacy analy
provide some evidence of the effectiveness of Tcainthe treatment of MS. Data from the Phasadysevaluating the Expanded Disabi
Status Scale (EDSS) showed improvements in sonjectsilin comparison to baseline for weeks 20 and 28

Subjects showed statistically significant improvemi@ overall reduction of MRTC counts over baselat all visits through week 52
subjects receiving 385 million cells per dose, as assessed by total ®Rdunt percentage changes. These data indicat&@tbba treatme
causes a depletion or immunomodulation of theds,amlost obvious at time points closer to the itiggrs. These findings were publishet
Clinical Immunology (2009) 131, 202-215.

Overall, results of the safety analyses indicatd treatment with Tcelna is welblerated. Reported adverse events were mostly o

moderate in intensity. Mild injection site reactsowere observed but all resolved rapigighout treatment. In conclusion, data from thisdy
suggest that Tcelna is safe for the treatment of MS
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Summary of Phase I/llA Clinical Trial Data in MS

The second clinical study performed by Opexa wasmantabel extension study completed in 2007 to treéiepts who were previous
treated with Teell immunotherapy but who saw a rebound in MRT@viyg. The purpose of this extension study wasdatinue evaluating tl
efficacy, safety and tolerability of Tcelna in matis with RRMS and SPMS with repeated administnadioT celna. Results of the study pro\
evidence of the effectiveness of Tcelna in thettneat of MS with repeated dosing. Improvements flmageline at both week 28 and wee
of the extension study were observed for the fraqueof MS exacerbations, or annualized relapse (ARR). Evaluation of the Multip
Sclerosis Impact Scale (MSE®) component scores suggests a trend for Tcekraph in the improvement of physical and psychaal
parameters assessed by the M38S-The EDSS score analysis revealed an upwardl tfen the percentage of subjects that repc
improvement and sustained improvement over basefireeresult of Tcelna treatment.

Subjects showed statistically significant improvamever baseline in the MRTC counts for each timefpthrough month nine of t
extension study. These results indicate that Tdeé@ment results in a statistically significampact on these cells.

Overall, results of the safety analyses indicatd thpeated treatment with Tcelna is welerated. Reported adverse events (AES)
mostly mild or moderate in intensity. Mild injecticite reactions were observed but all resolve@iapiithout treatment. Furthermore, res
from this study suggest that repeated dosing ofrigdeas a substantive effect in reduction of ARRubjects with MS and was well-tolerated.

Summary of TERMS Phase IIb Clinical Trial Data in RRMS

Tovaxin for Early Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis (TERB) was a Phase IIb clinical study of Tcelna in RRIgatients completed in 20
Although the study did not show statistical sigrafice in its primary endpoint (the cumulative numifegadoliniumenhanced brain lesic
using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans sumahe@rious points in the study), the study showeshpelling evidence of efficacy
various clinical and other MRI endpoints.

The TERMS study was a multi-center, randomized ptoblind, placebaontrolled trial in 150 patients with RRMS or higbkk Clinically
Isolated Syndrome. The inclusion criteria for TEBMas an EDSS score of 0 to 5.5. Patients receitethl of five subcutaneous injection
weeks 0, 4, 8, 12 and 24. Key results from the MBRrial included:

° In the modified intent to treat patient pagidn consisting of all patients who received asteone dose of study product and hi
least one MRI scan at week 28 or later (n=142), ARR for Tcelna-treated patients was 0.214 as coetbto 0.339 for placebweate:
patients, which represented a 37% decrease in ARRcelna as compared to placebo in the generallatpn;

° In a prospective group of patients with maive disease (ARR>1, n=50), Tcelna demonstraté&®% reduction in ARR
compared to placebo, an 88% reduction in wholenbastiophy and a statistically significant improverne disability (EDSS) compared
placebo (p<0.045) at week 52 during the 24-weelogdollowing the administration of the full coursétreatment; and

° In a retrospective analysis in patients nadverevious disease modifying treatment, the tesshowed that patients, when trei
with Tcelna, had a 56% to 73% reduction in ARR usrglacebo for the various subsets and p valuggedaitom 0.009 to 0.06.

We remain committed to further advancing Tceln&RMS at a later date assuming the availability dficient resources or a strate
partnering commitment. For Opexa, however, SPM&hisrea which we believe represents a higher unmadical need. Depending upon
outcome of further feasibility analyses, thecdlt platform may have applications in developmiaatments for other autoimmune disor
such as rheumatoid arthritis, Type 1 diabetes, apthan indications such as myasthenia gravis. grireary focus of Opexa remains
development of Tcelna in SPMS.
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SPMS Overview and Tcelna Mechanism of Action

SPMS is characterized by a steady accrual of irsivie disability, despite, in some cases, relagekbswed by remissions or clinic
plateaus. Older age at onset of MS diagnosisdssttongest predictor of conversion to SPMS. Malage a shorter time to conversiot
SPMS compared with females. Available immunomodiuaind immunosuppressive therapies used for RREM& mot been effective
SPMS. In clinical trials, these therapies have destrated antinflammatory properties as measured by the redudgtiovumber and volume
contrastenhancing or acutely inflammatory CNS lesions noashmonly seen in patients with RRMS. The typicaMSPpatient, however, h
little or no radiographic evidence of acute inflaatian. It is commonly observed that contragttancing CNS lesions are uncommon ar
these patients, despite a clearly deterioratingategic course.

The lack of effect of conventional MS therapeutitSPMS suggests that the cerebral deterioratianacherizing progressive disease
be driven by factors other than acute inflammatteor. instance, the immunopathology of SPMS is ntormgsistent with a transition to a chrc
T-cell dependent inflammatory type, which may encossgghe innate immune response and persistent tativaf microglia cells. Meninge
follicles close to cortical gray matter lesions gests that adaptive immune responses involvingoadyi and complement contribute
progression in SPMS. Furthermore, chronic MRTCs taycontributing to the development of both innabel adaptive immune respon
persisting in the CNS.

Radiographic features that stand out among patigitks SPMS include significantly more atrophy ofigrmatter compared with RRD)
patients. Of note, lonterm disability in MS in general appears more dipseorrelated to gray matter atrophy than to whibatte
inflammation. Such atrophy may be suggestive ofm@ssive clinical disability. Both clinically anddiographically, SPMS represents a dis
process with certain features distinct from thadsBRMS, and one with extremely limited treatmentiaps.

Tcelna immunotherapy in SPMS may reduce the drigéthis chronic disease by down-regulating angielin immunity through primin
regulatory responses that may act in the periphsmyell as within the CNS. We believe that ourichhresults show therapeutic subcutan:
dosing of 30-45 million cells of Tcelna stimulatesst reactivity to the oveepresented MRTCs and, as a consequence, a doniegativ:
regulatory T-cell response is induced leading temoegulation of similar endogenous disease-caugiRg Cs.

We believe that Tcelna has the potential to induteip-regulation of regulatory cells, such as Fexp8eg cells and 1.0 secreting Tr
cells, which may effect a reduction in inflammatiand provide neuroprotection should they gain etdrthe CNS. Data from our TER}
study showed statistically significant changes frioaseline (p=0.02) in Foxp3+ Treg cells for thesailof Tcelna patients who had ARR
The placebo arm for this subset was not statisfichiferent from its baseline levels. Three SPM&i@nts from prior clinical studies, whe
blood samples were analyzed to measure Trl cedis fortreatment and post treatment, showed arease in the levels of Trl cells from non
detectable levels to the range of healthy donoméesn These three patients who had relapses ipréeeding 1224 month period remain
relapse free during the 52-week assessment penbdlao showed a 57% to 67% reduction in MRTCs.

Current Treatment Options for SPMS

Only one product, mitoxantrone, is currently apga¥or the indication of SPMS in the US. Howevénce 2005, this drug carries a bl
box warning, due to significant risks of decreasgdtolic function, heart failure, and leukemia. TAmerican Academy of Neurology
issued a report indicating that these risks are éwgher than suggested in the original reportiteatb the black box warning. Hence, a :
and effective treatment for SPMS remains a sigaificinmet medical need.

Tcelna Clinical Overview in SPMS

In multiple previously conducted clinical trialsrfthe treatment of patients with MS (which have rbeeeighted significantly towa
patients with RRMS), Tcelna has demonstrated ortheofafest side effect profiles for any marketedevelopmenstage MS therapy, as w
as encouraging efficacy signals. A total of 144 pEients have received Tcelna in previously coretli€@pexa trials for RRMS and SPP
The therapy has been wétilerated in all subjects and has demonstratecesllent overall safety profile. The most commoasheséffect is mil
to moderate irritation at the site of injection,ieris typically resolved in 24 hours. Tcelna hagtt administered to a total of 36 subjects
SPMS across three previous clinical studies.

In a pooled assessment of data from 36 SPMS patiegdted in Phase | open label studies at theoB&dllege of Medicine completed
1998 and in Opexaponsored studies completed in 2006 and 2007, zippately 80% of the 35 SPMS patients who complédteal years c
treatment showed disease stabilization as meabyr&dSS following two years of treatment with Taglmwith the other 20% showing sign:
progression. This compares to historical contathdvhich showed a progression rate of 40% in Spktints (as reported in ESIMS St
published in Hommes Lancet 2004). The 10 SPMS migtismn Opexa sponsored studies showed a substaadiattion in ARR at two yee
from 0.5 to an ARR less than 0.1. Only 1 out of Hiffepatients experienced one episode of relapgagitite two years of assessment.
same cohort showed no worsening of physical orhpsiggical condition (key quality of life indicatoess measured by the MS Impact Sc
after two years of treatment with Tcelna. Additilbpathere were no reported serious adverse eSAES) in any of the patients. Basec
preliminary data suggesting stabilized or improdishbility among SPMS subjects receiving Tcelna,bsbeve that further development
this product candidate in SPMS is warranted.
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Abili-T Trial: Phase IIb Clinical Study in Patients with SPMS

In September 2012, we announced the initiationBhase Ilb clinical trial of Tcelna in patients wBPMS. The trial is entitled: A Phas
Double-Blind, Placebo Controlled Mul@enter Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safetyadlna in Subjects with Secondary Progres
Multiple Sclerosis and has been named the “Abilitfial. The Abili-T trial is a double-blind, 1:1 mdomized, placeboentrolled study i
SPMS patients who demonstrate evidence of diseasgrgssion with or without associated relapses. s is being conducted
approximately 35 leading clinical sites in the UaBd Canada and has enrolled patients who havenHggdaDisability Status Scale (ED:
scores between 3.0 and 6.0. According to the spudgocol, patients are receiving two annual coaliseTcelna treatment consisting of 1
subcutaneous injections per year at weeks 0,2 &nd 24.

The primary efficacy endpoint of the trial is therpentage of brain volume change (whole brain &yppt 24 months. Study investigal
will also measure several important secondary eoesocommonly associated with MS including sustatfisdase progression as measure
EDSS, changes in EDSS, time to sustained progrgssiBR, change in Multiple Sclerosis Functional Qasite (MSFC) assessment
disability and change in Symbol Digit Modality TeBtata on certain exploratory endpoints such adityuaf life metrics as measured by
Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life Inventory (MSQ),IMRI measures and immune monitoring metrics ¢ése being collected.

As part of the AbiliT trial, we are undertaking a comprehensive immunaaitoring program for all patients enrolled in tsteidy. Th
goals of this program are to further understandbibogy behind the mechanism of action for Tcedna to possibly identify novel biomark
that are dominant in the pathophysiology of SPM8epé. The program encompasses an analysis obuspro-inflammatory and anti-
inflammatory biomarkers and biomarker data is bajathered during the course of the trial on a leththasis. We believe that directic
movement of certain biomarkers, when corroboratétl final clinical trial data, may be indicative oésponders and disease stabilizatic
progression.

A scheduled Data Safety Monitoring Board meetingktplace during the week of April 7, 2014, and eoramendation was made
continue the study. We reached our enrollmentetaigy the Abili-T trial in June 2014, and a total of 190 patierdgenbeen enrolled in tt
two-year study. We expect top-line data to belak& in the second half of 2016.

Our existing resources are not adequate to persntblcomplete such study. We will need to secigrificant additional resources
complete the Abili¥ trial and support our operations during the peisgleof the trial. We believe we have sufficientulidity to support ot
current clinical activities for the Abill- trial and general operations to sustain the Camw@nd support such trial into the fourth quartt
2015. Any other costs, however, such as costs iatedavith pursuing additional disease indicatitorsour T-cell technology or other resea
or development programs, would of course shortenpiriod. Given our need for substantial amowohtsapital to continue the Abill- clinical
study and potentially other clinical programs, weend to continue to explore potential opportusitiénd alternatives to obtain the signific
additional resources, including one or more addéidfinancings, that will be necessary to compliie Abili-T study and to support ¢
operations and potentially other research and dewetnt programs during the pendency of such stiithere can be no assurance that
such financings or potential opportunities andraliéves can be consummated on acceptable teriusalif

Option and License Agreement with Merck Serono

On February 4, 2013, we entered into an Optionlaoehnse Agreement with Merck. Pursuant to the egrent, Merck has an option (
“Option”) to acquire an exclusive, worldwide (excluding Jgparense of our Tcelna program for the treatmeni&. The Option may t
exercised by Merck prior to or upon completion afr @ngoing Abili-T trial of Tcelna in patients with SPMS. Under ttegms of th
agreement, we received an upfront payment of $8omifor granting the Option. If the Option is egised, Merck would pay us an upfr
license fee of $25 million unless Merck is unaldetvance directly into a Phase 1l clinical triéiTcelna for SPMS without a further Phas
clinical trial (as determined by Merck), in whickiemt the upfront license fee would be $15 milligditer exercising the Option, Merck wot
be solely responsible for funding development, laguy and commercialization activities for TcelmaMS, although we would retain
option to cofund certain development in exchange for increaegdlty rates. We would also retain rights to hieein Japan, certain rights w
respect to the manufacture of Tcelna, and rightseofor other indications outside of MS.
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Based upon the achievement of development milestoméverck for Tcelna in SPMS, we would be eligitdereceive onéime mileston
payments totaling up to $70 million as follows: fijlestone payments aggregating $35 million if Tieels submitted for regulatory apprc
and commercialized in the United States; (i) nideg payments aggregating $30 million if Tcelnaigmitted for regulatory approval
Europe and commercialized in at least three majantries in Europe; and (iii) a milestone paymen$® million if Tcelna is commercializt
in certain markets outside of the United StatesEmape. If Merck elects to develop and commerméglicelna in RRMS, we would be eligi
to receive milestone payments aggregating up ton$lidn based upon the achievement by Merck ofowes development, regulatory and 1
commercial sale milestones.

If Tcelna receives regulatory approval and is comumézed by Merck, we would be eligible to receik@yalties pursuant to a tiel
structure at rates ranging from 8% to 15% of anmglsales, with stepps over such range occurring when annual net sxlesed $5C
million, $1 billion and $2 billion. Any royaltiesould be subject to offset or reduction in varigitsiations, including if third party rights
required or if patent protection is not availalsiean applicable jurisdiction. We would also be masgible for royalty obligations to certain tF
parties, such as Baylor College of Medicine fronmokihwe originally licensed related technology.wié were to exercise an option to fmd
certain of Merck$ development, the royalty rates payable by Meroldld/be increased to rates ranging from 10% to ll&%ddition to royalt
payments, we would be eligible to receive ¢in@e commercial milestones totaling up to $85 miili with $55 million of such mileston
achievable at annual net sales targets in excek bilion.

Other Opportunities

Our proprietary Teell technology has enabled us to develop inteledcproperty and a comprehensive sample databaseridty enab
discovery of novel biomarkers associated with MIpending upon the outcome of further feasibilitalgsis, the Teell platform may hay
applications in developing treatments for othepaminune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritiseTyiabetes, and orphan indications :
as myasthenia gravis. While the primary focus oé@premains the development of Tcelna in SPMS,re@@lgo investigating the expansiol
the T-cell platform into other autoimmune diseaaesvell as potential in-licensing.

Critical Accounting Policies

General. Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations is based on our @i@rstatements, which he
been prepared in accordance with accounting pliegigenerally accepted in the U.S. The preparatfdhese financial statements require
to make estimates and judgments that affect therteg amounts of assets, liabilities and expendéés.base our estimates on histol
experience and on various other assumptions thdielleve to be reasonable under the circumstaticegesults of which form the basis
making judgments about the carrying values of asaed liabilities that are not readily apparentfrother sources. Actual results may d
from these estimates under different assumptiort®ditions. We believe the following critical aceing policies affect our most significi
judgments and estimates used in preparation ofimamcial statement:

Revenue Recognition. We adopted the provisions of FASB ASC 605, “RexeRecognition.’/ASC 605 requires that four basic critt
must be met before revenue can be recognizedetsppsive evidence of an arrangement exists; (Rjedg has occurred or services rende
(3) consideration is fixed or determinable; andgdljectability is reasonably assured.

We evaluated the Merck Agreement and determinetttiea $5 million upfront payment from Merck hasrgtalone value. Opexa’
continuing performance obligations, in connectidthwhe $5 million payment, include the executiord @ompletion of the AbIliF clinical trial
in SPMS using commercially reasonable efforts atawn costs. As a staralene value term in the Merck Agreement, the $Sionilupfron
payment is determined to be a single unit of acognand is recognized as revenue on a strdightbasis over the exclusive option pe
based on the expected completion term of the Abdlinical trial in SPMS.

Stock-Based CompensatioriWe adopted the provisions of FASB ASC 718 whiclalglighes accounting for equity instruments exchd
for employee service. We utilize the BlaSkholes option pricing model to estimate the faiue of employee stock based compensation
date of grant, which requires the input of highlfpjective assumptions, including expected volgti#ihd expected life. Changes in these ir
and assumptions can materially affect the measuestomated fair value of our shabased compensation. These assumptions are suk
and generally require significant analysis and judgt to develop. When estimating fair value, sormthe assumptions will be based on
determined from, external data and other assungptioaly be derived from our historical experiencehwstiockbased payment arrangeme
The appropriate weight to place on historical eigrae is a matter of judgment, based on relevans fand circumstances.
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We estimated volatility by considering historicidak volatility. We have opted to use the simpifimethod for estimating expected t
of options as equal to the midpoint between théingperiod and the contractual term.

Research and DevelopmentThe costs of materials and equipment or facilitikat are acquired or constructed for researct
development activities and that have alternativeruuses are capitalized as tangible assets wtmrirad or constructed. The cost of s
materials consumed in research and developmentiteesti and the depreciation of such equipment ailifees used in those activities i
research and development costs. However, the obstsiterials, equipment, or facilities acquiredconstructed for research and developt
activities that have no alternative future usescaresidered research and development costs arekpeased at the time the costs are incurred

Results of Operations and Financial Condition
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 204ith the Three Months Ended June 30, 2013

Revenue. Revenues of $307,686 and $348,837 related t&%hmillion upfront payment from Merck in connectiaith the Option an
License Agreement dated February 5, 2013 were reped for the three months ended June 30, 201£2ah8, respectively. The decreas
revenue is primarily a reflection of an increas¢hi@a number of months over which the deferred ragda being recognized from 43 month
47 months.

Research and Development ExpenseResearch and development expenses were $3,409R1lfefthree months ended June 30, 2
compared with $2,223,030 for the three months edde 30, 2013. The increase in expenses is phntre to an increase in the cost
connection with the increasing enroliment of pasédor the ongoing clinical trial of Tcelna in SPM&h increase in the procurement and u
supplies for product manufacturing and developmand, increases in the number of employees to stufp®iongoing clinical trial, employ
compensation expense and stock compensation expense

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses for the threetims ended June 30, 2014 were $967
compared with $750,605 for the three months endeé 30, 2013. The increase in expense is due tedses in employee compensation
stock compensation expenses, and was partiallgtdffs decreases in legal and professional feetetkta financing activities.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses.Depreciation and amortization expenses for theethmmnths ended June 30, 2014 \
$98,658 compared with $88,898 for the three moetided June 30, 2013. The increase in expense isodmereases in depreciation
laboratory, manufacturing and computer equipmeguied during 2013 and 2014 and leasehold improwsnduring 2013 and 2014
support increased development activities.

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $285,800 for the three moettded June 30, 2013 was primarily related to thertzed detk
discount and interest on both the July 25, 2012 edible secured promissory notes and the Janu&rg@13 convertible promissory notes
the amortization of the financing fees over the 6f the notes. No interest expense was recoraatidadhree months ended June 30, 2014.

Interest Income. Interest income was $4,290 for the three montitee June 30, 2014, compared to $3,066 for the thmenths ende
June 30, 2013.

Other Income . We recorded no other income for the three moattteed June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2013, respectively

Net loss.We had a net loss for the three months ended Jon203.4 of approximately $4.2 million, or $0.15dqgser share (basic ¢
diluted), compared with a net loss of approxima&3ymillion or $0.37 loss per share (basic andtédy for the three months ended June
2013. The increased net loss is primarily related tlecrease in revenue and an increase in resgadaotbevelopment expenses, higher ge
and administrative expenses and higher depreciatipenses partially offset by decreased intergstrese for the quarter ending June 30, 2

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2014hathe Six Months Ended June 30, 2013

Revenue. Revenues of $656,523 and $568,937 related to thailibn upfront payment from Merck in connectiontivthe Option an
License Agreement dated February 5, 2013 were rézed for the six months ended June 30, 2014 ah8,2@spectively.

Research and Development ExpenseResearch and development expenses were $6,22084Bef six months ended June 30, 2
compared with $3,844,396 for the six months endet B0, 2013. The increase in expenses is primdu#y/ to an increase in the cost
connection with the increasing enroliment of pasdor the ongoing clinical trial of Tcelnha in SPM&h increase in the procurement and u
supplies for product manufacturing and developmand, increases in the number of employees to stufgp®iongoing clinical trial, employ
compensation expense and stock compensation expense
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General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses for the sixthsoanded June 30, 2014 were $2,070
compared with $1,853,040 for the six months endee: B0, 2013. The increase in expense is due tedses in employee compensation
stock compensation expenses, and was partiallgtdffs decreases in legal and professional feetetkta financing activities.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses.Depreciation and amortization expenses for the nsonths ended June 30, 2014 v
$194,244, compared with $167,209 for the six momthded June 30, 2013. The increase in expenseeitodincreases in depreciation
laboratory, manufacturing and computer equipmeguied during 2013 and 2014 and leasehold improwsnduring 2013 and 2014
support increased development activities.

Interest Expense. Interest expense of $1,921,054 for the six moetided June 30, 2013 was primarily related to thertized det
discount and interest on both the July 25, 2012 edible secured promissory notes and the Janu&rg@13 convertible promissory notes
the amortization of the financing fees over the 6f the notes. No interest expense was recoraatidesix months ended June 30, 2014.

Interest Income. Interest income was $9,484 for the six monthsdntline 30, 2014, compared to $4,940 for the sintinsoended Jul
30, 2013.

Other Income. Other income of $37,910 for the six months endede 30, 2013 was related to the extinguishmemhembershi
interests in the mutual insurance company that aréigipated in for our product liability insurantterough January 1, 2013. We recordel
other income for the six months ended June 30,.2014

Net loss.We had a net loss for the six months ended Jun@@D4 of approximately $7.8 million, or $0.28 Igssr share (basic a
diluted), compared with a net loss of approximat&ly2 million or $0.94 loss per share (basic addtefi) for the six months ended June
2013. The increased net loss is primarily relateith¢reases in the costs associated with enrollmiepatients for the clinical study of Tcelng
SPMS, the procurement and use of supplies for mtochanufacturing and development, additions tof stafl increased compensation cc
and higher depreciation expenses partially offgaddrreased interest expense and increases inu@ven

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, we have financed our operations pritgafrom the sale of debt and equity securities. & June 30, 2014, we had cash
cash equivalents of $16,214,690. Our financingvies generated approximately $28.4 million foe thear ended December 31, 2013.
cash generated in 2013 was proceeds from undexwnitiblic offerings of shares of our common stqmiaceeds from a registered dil
offering of shares of our common stock, proceedsfisales of shares of our common stock to Lincark Rapital Fund, LLC (incoln
Park”), proceeds from sales of shares of our comstock under an “at-the-marketATM) facility, proceeds from a January 2013 conime
secured note financing, the release of funds tpresiously held in a controlled account and fromuafront payment received pursuant tc
option granted to acquire an exclusive, worldwiglec{uding Japan) license to our Tcelna prograntHertreatment of MS, as discussed below

On November 2, 2012, we entered into a $15.0 miliarchase agreement and registration rights agnegmnd on November 5, 2012,
entered into a $1.5 million purchase agreement) eath Lincoln Park pursuant to which we have tigt to sell to Lincoln Park an aggrec
of up to $16.5 million in shares of our common ki@ubject to certain conditions and limitationsiddr the terms and subject to the condit
of the purchase agreements, Lincoln Park is old@jab purchase up to an aggregate of $16.5 miliicshares of common stock (subjec
certain limitations) from time to time over a 8&@bnth period. We may direct Lincoln Park, at ouatesdiscretion and subject to cer
conditions, to purchase up to 100,000 shares oframmstock in regular purchases, increasing to atsoofnup to 300,000 shares depen
upon the closing sale price of our common stockaddition, we may direct Lincoln Park to purchasklitional amounts as acceler:
purchases. The purchase price of shares of constoek related to the future funding will be basedtloe prevailing market prices of si
shares at the time of sales (or over a period dbu? business days leading up to such time)irbaib event will shares be sold to Lincoln F
on a day the common stock closing price is less tha adjusted minimum floor price of $1.00. Aslahe 30, 2014, we have sold an aggre
of 390,000 shares of our common stock to LincolmkFar gross proceeds of $523,709 and have a rengaicommitment amount
$15,976,291 available to us through Lincoln Parichase agreements. However, there can be no assutaat we will be able to receive i
or all of the additional funds from Lincoln Parkdaeise the purchase agreements contain limitatiessictions, requirements, events of de!
and other provisions that could limit our ability ¢ause Lincoln Park to buy common stock from mesluiding the requirement to keep cur
the prospectus included as part of the Forthr8gistration statement relating to the $15.0iamlipurchase agreement (which is not curre
of this date).
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On September 6, 2012, we entered into a Sales Agnee(the “ATM Agreement”with Brinson Patrick Securities Corporation |
“Original Sales Manager'in which we could offer and sell shares of our camnnstock from time to time depending upon marketaied, witt
the Original Sales Manager acting as an agentoisale of shares in transactions deemed to batahe marketbffering as defined in Ru
415 of the Securities Act of 1933. During Februa®l 3, we sold an aggregate of 167,618 shares of@umon stock, for gross proceed
$536,417 pursuant to the ATM Agreement. On MarcB(,4, we entered into a First Amendment to Salgeément with the Original Sa
Manager and Meyers Associates, L.P. (doing busiag®&rinson Patrick, a division of Meyers AssodateP.) (“Brinson Patrick”)pursuant t
which the ATM Agreement was assigned by the Orig8sles Manager to Brinson Patrick. The ATM Agreem as amended, is referres
herein as the “new ATM AgreementUnder the new ATM Agreement, we may offer and sklires of our common stock from time to 1
depending upon market demand, with Brinson Patiiting as an agent for the sale of shares indrtions deemed to be an “at the marke
offering as defined in Rule 415 of the Securitiat 8f 1933. We have registered up to an additi@ 00,000 shares of our common stocl
potential sale under the new ATM Agreement. AsJofe 30, 2014, we have generated gross and netquoof $51,390 and $49,8
respectively, under the new ATM Agreement on safean aggregate of 30,700 shares of our commork stbaverage prices ranging fr
$1.64 to $1.68 per share. Between March 5, 204} Aamgust 1, 2014, we generated gross and net piecek $152,687and $148,1
respectively, on sales of an aggregate of 91,48reshof our common stock under the new ATM Agredianluding gross and net proce
of $101,297and $98,256, respectively, on sales afggregate of 60,797 shares of our common stdzdeswent to June 30, 3014.

Our operating cash burn rate during the six moatided June 30, 2014 was approximately $1.2 mipemmonth. Significant activities
the conduct of the AbilF clinical trial are expected to result in a simitaonthly operating cash burn in the second hall@f4. We belie\
that we have sufficient liquidity to support our@nt clinical activities for the AbiliF trial and general operations to sustain the Cawyaenc
support such trial into the fourth quarter of 205y other costs, however, such as costs assdaidatke pursuing additional disease indicati
for our T-cell technology or other research or depment programs, would of course shorten thisogeri

We currently intend to use our available cash tedfgeneral corporate purposes (including workingitag business development :
operational purposes) and continue the ongoingi-Abdlinical study. We reached our enroliment targpe the Abili-T trial in June 2014, anc
total of 190 patients have been enrolled in this-fear study. We expect top-line data to be alkdlan the second half of 2016.

Our existing resources are not adequate to persitoucomplete such study. We will need to secugaifstant additional capital
complete the trial and support our operations dutiire pendency of the trial. If we are unable taobadditional funding for operations bey:
the projected runway, we will be forced to suspenterminate our current ongoing clinical trial fbcelna, which may require us to modify
current business plan and curtail various aspdatsiooperations, as well as implement significeodgtreduction measures or potentially ce
operations.

Given our need for substantial amounts of capitaidmplete the AbiliF clinical study and potentially other clinical gmams, we intend
continue to explore potential opportunities anctralatives to obtain the significant additional rgses, including one or more additic
financing transactions, that will be necessary dmpglete the AbiliT study and to support our operations and potéyptaher research a
development programs during the pendency of sualfystThere can be no assurance that any suchcfirgsor potential opportunities ¢
alternatives can be consummated on acceptable,tératsll.

If Merck does not exercise the Option and acquiseexclusive, worldwide (excluding Japan) licensew Tcelna program for MS, or
we are not successful in attracting another paramel entering into a collaboration on acceptabtemde we may not be able to comp
development of or commercialize any product cartdidacluding Tcelna. In particular, we may be hieato undertake, or complete, i
Phase Il clinical study of Tcelna in SPMS, assugrtime results of the Abili- Phase 1lb study warrant such a further studysuch event, o
ability to generate revenues and achieve or suptaifitability would be significantly hindered amee may not be able to continue operatior
proposed, requiring us to modify our business ptantail various aspects of our operations or cepsgations.

We do not maintain any external lines of creditodd we need any additional capital in the futueydnd the purchase agreements
Lincoln Park and our at-the-market program withnBdn Patrick, management will be reliant upon “led&irts” debt or equity financings.
our prospects for funding, if any, develop durihg fiscal year, we will assess our business plahnaake adjustments accordingly. Altho
we have successfully funded our operations to biptettracting additional investors in our equitydatebt securities, there is no assurance
our capital raising efforts will be able to attraciditional necessary capital for our operationdhefuture.

Assuming we are able to achieve financing whicui§icient to continue the Abili- study in North America and to support our op®era
during the pendency of such study, we are alsotabdencurrently manage a pivotal Phase Il clihgtady in RRMS in North America in @
present facility. Any such RRMS studies, howeveould also depend upon the availability of sufficieesources or a strategic partne
commitment.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standahddate (“ASU”) 2014-10, “Development Stage Entifieshich eliminated th
concept of a development stage entity from U.S. GAahd among other things removed the presentatidrdiclosure requirements spec
to development stage entities, such as the inagptiaate financial information. We have adoptesiA201410 as of January 1, 2014, ant
an early adopter, we will no longer be providingaption-to-date information in our financial statnts.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Alout Market Risk.
Not Applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindgktdisclosed by us in the reports
we file or submit to the Securities and Exchangen@ission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, is recorded, proces
summarized, and reported within the time periodscdied by the Securities and Exchange Commissiomles and forms, and that informa
is accumulated and communicated to our manageiinehtding our principal executive and principaldircial officer (whom we refer to in ti
periodic report as our Certifying Officers), as agpiate to allow timely decisions regarding regdidisclosure. Our management evalui
with the participation of our Certifying Officerthe effectiveness of our disclosure controls arat@dures as of June 30, 2014, pursus
Rule 13a15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act. Based tipainevaluation, our Certifying Officers concludidat, as of June 30, 2014,
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control divemcial reporting that occurred during our mastently completed fiscal quarter t
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting.

Item 5. Other Information

On August 12, 2014, we provided notice to the Ursitg of Chicago that we have elected to discomifwrther prosecution of certi
patents relating to the proprietary adult stem teahnology that we license from the UniversityQificago pursuant to a Fourth Amended
Restated License Agreement dated November 2, 2Bliisuant to the termination notice, we exercised amntractual option to return 1
licensed patent rights back to the University ofc@go and terminate the license agreement effebtoxeember 10, 2014 in accordance with
terms thereof. The stem cell program has beehdrearly (prezlinical) development stage at Opexa and retursingh technology will allo
us to focus our resources and development on awgllTplatform and Tcelna, our lead product candidathis decision does not affect
patent portfolio behind the T-cell platform or smrnding Tcelna.
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PART Il

OTHER INFORMATION

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

Reference is made to “Management’s Discussion andly&is of Financial Condition and Results of Ofieres — Forward-ooking
Statements” in Part I, Item 2 of this report. Altighn we believe that the expectations reflectechinfarwardiooking statements we make
reasonable, we caution you that these expectatiopsedictions may not prove to be correct or wey mat achieve the financial or operati
results or other benefits anticipated in the fodmmoking statements. Forwatdeking statements are subject to a number of reshe
uncertainties, which could cause our actual regaltgary materially from those suggested by thevésd{ooking statements. The followi
factors affect our business, our intellectual propehe industry in which we operate and our sities: The risks and uncertainties descr
below are not the only ones we face. Additionsksiand uncertainties not presently known or whietcurrently consider immaterial may &
have an adverse effect on our business. If anthefmatters discussed in the following risk factaesre to occur, our business, finan
condition, results of operations, cash flows orspexrts could be materially adversely affected,niaeket price of our common stock ca
decline and you could lose all or part of your istveent.

Risks Related to Our Business

We will be required to raise significant additionahpital, and our ability to obtain funding is unctain. If sufficient capital is not available
we may not be able to continue our operations asgwsed (including any Phase IIb clinical trial iniated or ongoing for Tcelna), whic
may require us to modify our business plan, curtaidrious aspects of our operations, cease operaian seek relief under applicak
bankruptcy laws.

As of June 30, 2014, we had cash and cash equisaléf$16,214,690. During 2012, we closed a pe\aifering in July 2012 consisting
convertible secured notes and warrants to purchasemon stock which generated approximately $4.lianilin gross proceeds. The
convertible secured notes were converted into ggliting 2013 and an aggregate of 2,002,926 stafresmmon stock were issued. Fr
November 2012 through January 2013, we sold aneggtg of 390,000 shares of our common stock todlinPark for gross proceeds
$523,709 pursuant to our $1.5 million purchase emgent with Lincoln Park. We closed a private offgrof unsecured convertible promiss
notes and warrants to purchase common stock inadar2013 which generated $650,000 in gross procdgdsn receipt of the upfro
payment from Merck in February 2013, we repaid $880 principal amount plus accrued interest ofXaeuary 2013 notes and convertec
remaining $100,000 principal amount into sharesashmon stock pursuant to the invessoglection to convert into equity. In February 2|
we sold an aggregate of 167,618 shares of our constoek pursuant to the ATM Agreement for grosscpeals of $536,417. On Februar
2013, we entered into an Option and License Agre¢mvéh Merck pursuant to which we granted the Optio Merck to acquire an exclusi
worldwide (excluding Japan) license to our Tcelnagpam for the treatment of MS in considerationdarupfront payment of $5 million. (
February 11, 2013, we closed an offering of 1,088,8hares of common stock and warrants to purchés@®68 shares of common stock
gross proceeds of $3.25 million, or net proceedappiroximately $3.0 million after deducting comnoss and offering expenses. On Aug
13, 2013, we closed an offering of 12 million stsané common stock for gross proceeds of $18 millmmet proceeds of approximately $1
million after deducting underwriting discounts aooimmissions and offering expenses, and we gramtedinderwriters a 36ay option t
purchase up to an additional 1.8 million sharegahmon stock to cover ovatlotments. During September 2013, the underwritdrthe
August 2013 underwritten public offering exercighd overallotment option granted to them which resultedhie issuance of an additio
900,000 shares of common stock for gross procefedis. 85 million, or net proceeds of approximatelyZmillion after deducting underwriti
discounts and commissions and offering expensesD&rember 23, 2013, we closed an offering of 4008,shares of common st
including the full exercise of the ovaltotment option granted to the underwriters, rajsjross proceeds of approximately $8.1 milliomel
proceeds of approximately $7.3 million after dethgtthe underwriting discounts and commission afféring expenses. Between Marct
2014 and August 1, 2014, we generated gross angroeteds of $152,687 and $148,103, respectivelysates of an aggregate of 91,
shares of our common stock under the new ATM Agesgm

Our operating cash burn rate during the six moatided June 30, 2014 was approximately $1.2 mipiemmonth. Significant activities
the conduct of the AbiliF clinical trial are expected to result in a simifaonthly operating cash burn in the second haRB@f4. We reach:
our enrollment target for the Abili-T trial in Ju2€14, and a total of 190 patients have been et this two-year study. We expect toe
data to be available in the second half of 2016.

We will need to secure significant additionaloeses to complete the trial and support our oeratduring the pendency of the trial.
believe that we have sufficient liquidity to suppour current clinical activities for the Abili- trial and general operations to sustain
Company and support such trial into the fourth teraof 2015. Any other costs, however, such asscassociated with pursuing additic
disease indications for our T-cell technology drestresearch or development programs, would ofseosinorten this period.
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Given our need for substantial amounts of capitaidmplete the AbiliF clinical study and potentially other clinical gmams, we intend
continue to explore potential opportunities anctralatives to obtain the significant additional rgses, including one or more additic
financing transactions, that will be necessary dmpglete the AbiliT study and to support our operations and potéyntaher research a
development programs during the pendency of sualfystThere can be no assurance that any suchcfimgsorpotential opportunities a
alternatives can be consummated on acceptable,tératsll. If we are unable to obtain additiofiahding for operations beyond the proje«
runway, we will be forced to suspend or terminate ongoing clinical trial for Tcelna, which may réce us to modify our business pl
curtail various aspects of our operations, ceaseations or seek relief under applicable bankrujzess.

Other than the $1.5 million purchase agreementtla@@15.0 million purchase agreement we enteredviith Lincoln Park on Novemb
5, 2012 and November 2, 2012, respectively, eaathath is subject to certain limitations and coiudis, we have no sources of debt or ec
capital committed for funding and we must rely upast efforts thirgparty debt or equity funding. We can provide nsuaance that we w
be successful in any funding effort. The timingl alegree of any future capital requirements wifleted on many factors, including:

e our ability to establish, enforce and maintamatstgic arrangements for research, developmentcalitesting, manufacturing and
marketing;

e the accuracy of the assumptions underlying otimeses for capital needs in 2014 and beyond akasdbr the clinical study of
Tcelna;

e scientific progress in our research and developmpmgrams;

e the magnitude and scope of our research and@@weint programs;

e our progress with preclinical development andicél trials;

e the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatapprovals;

e the costs involved in preparing, filing, proséegf maintaining, defending and enforcing pateatrok; and
e the number and type of product candidates thatwsug.

If we raise additional funds by issuing equity s@@s, shareholders may experience substantiatidil. Debt financing, if available, m
involve restrictive covenants that may impede dhilityg to operate our business. Any debt financorgadditional equity that we raise n
contain terms that are not favorable to us or tnareholders. There is no assurance that our tagising efforts will be able to attract 1
capital needed to execute on our business plasastdin our operations.

If we are unable to obtain additional funding t@gaort our current clinical trial activities beyotite projected runway, we may not be |
to continue or complete the Phase llb clinical gtafiTcelna in SPMS or otherwise continue our opens as proposed, which may requir:
to modify our business plan or curtail various asp@f our operations. If we are unable to mam&a adequate level of capital, it may
necessary to cease operations or seek relief @pdicable bankruptcy laws. In such event, ourednalders may lose a portion or even a
their investment.

We may make changes to discretionary R&D investnsethiat may have an impact on costs.

We are presently complementing the Afilielinical trial with an immune monitoring prograntxpenses associated with the imn
monitoring program are incurred at our discretionl @re not required to satisfy any FD#andated criteria. Consequently, we may r
changes to the parameters that are being analgmddhese changes may result in either increasddaneased expenses for the study.

We may also incur discretionary expenses relateldh@se 111 development, manufacturing saghautomation and technology trans
research on additional indications and businessldpment activities. There is no assurance thptsanh future expenses would be recov
by us.

Funding from our purchase agreements with Lincolnalfk and our ATM facility may be limited or be insfi€ient to fund our operations c
to implement our strategy.

Under our $1.5 million purchase agreement and d3r@million purchase agreement with Lincoln Parvke, may direct Lincoln Park
purchase up to $16.5 million of shares of commoaglstsubject to certain limitations and conditiooger a 30month period. From Novemt
2012 through January 2013, we sold an aggrega3®@pO00 shares to Lincoln Park pursuant to the #iilon purchase agreement, and
issued an aggregate of 56,507 initial commitmentresh and 3,585 additional commitment shares in extion therewith. There can be
assurance that we will be able to receive anylasfahe additional funds from Lincoln Park becadise $1.5 million purchase agreement
the $15.0 million purchase agreement contain litioites, restrictions, requirements, events of deéfantl other provisions that could limit «
ability to cause Lincoln Park to buy common stoanf us, including that the closing price of ourcktés at least $1.00 and that Lincoln F
own no more than 4.99% of our common stock unde$th5 million purchase agreement or no more th@89% of our common stock unt
the $15.0 million purchase agreement, and the rexpgnt to keep current the prospectus includedgspthe Form S- registration stateme
relating to the $15.0 million purchase agreemeriti¢tvis not current as of this date). In additionder the applicable rules of the NASD
Capital Market, if we seek to issue shares whicly bmaggregated with shares sold to Lincoln Padeuthe $1.5 million purchase agreen
and the $15.0 million purchase agreement in exce4s151,829 shares or 19.99% of the total comntocksoutstanding as of the date of



$15.0 million purchase agreement, we may be redquoeeek shareholder approval in order to be mptance with the NASDAQ Capit
Market rules.
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The extent to which we rely on Lincoln Park as arse of funding will depend on a number of factangjuding the amount of workit
capital needed, the prevailing market price of common stock and the extent to which we are ablseture working capital from ott
sources. If obtaining sufficient funding from Loln Park were to prove unavailable or prohibitivdlijutive, we would need to secure ano
source of funding.

We will need to keep current the offering prospeatelating to the new ATM Agreement with BrinsontriRk, a division of Meyer
Associates, L.P., in order to use the program liosbares of our common stock. The number of sharel price at which we may be abl
sell shares under the new ATM Agreement may beeidnilue to market conditions and other factors bdysur control.

We have a history of operating losses and do nqiext to be profitable in the foreseeable future.

We have not generated any profits since our entiy the biotechnology business and we have incwigificant operating losses.
expect to incur additional operating losses forftireseeable future. We have not received, andaveot expect to receive for at least the
several years, any revenues from the commerat#iiz of any potential products. We do not cullsehtive any sources of revenues and
not have any in the foreseeable future.

Our business is at an early stage of developmente are largely dependent on the success of our pmpa¢tandidate, Tcelna, and we cant
be certain that Tcelna will receive regulatory agpral or be successfully commercialized.

Our business is at an early stage of developméfe.do not have any product candidates that havepleded latestage clinical trials ni
do we have any products on the market. We hawe amé product candidate, Tcelna, which has progress the stage of being studier
human clinical trials in the United States. In ®epber 2012, we announced the initiation of a Phésetudy of Tcelna in patients w
SPMS. We are still in the very early stages ohidging and conducting research on any other p@ééeproducts. Tcelna, and any ot
potential products, will require regulatory appriopegor to marketing in the United States and ottmuntries. Obtaining such approval reqt
significant research and development and precliraod clinical testing. We may not be able to depeany products, to obtain regulat
approvals, to continue clinical development of Tieglto enter clinical trials (or any developmernthaties) for any other product candidate:
to commercialize any products. Tcelna, and angrofotential products, may prove to have undesrablunintended side effects or o
characteristics adversely affecting their safeffjcacy or costeffectiveness that could prevent or limit their.ugey product using any of @
technology may fail to provide the intended thetdjmebenefits or to achieve therapeutic benefitesatdo or better than the standarc
treatment at the time of testing or production.

We have provided Merck with the Option, which prdes Merck with the opportunity, if exercised, tontml the development ar
commercialization of Tcelna in MS.

In February 2013, we granted the Option to Merthe Option permits Merck to acquire an exclusiverldwide (excluding Japan) licer
of our Tcelna program for the treatment of MS. Thaion may be exercised by Merck prior to or ugompletion of our ongoing Phase
trial of Tcelna in patients with SPMS. If Merckeggises the Option, Merck would be solely respdadibr funding development, regulat
and commercialization activities for Tcelna in Mhough we would retain an option to ftmd certain development in exchange for incre
royalty rates. We would also retain rights to Tieeln Japan, certain rights with respect to the ufeture of Tcelna, and rights outside
MS. In consideration for the Option, we receiveduafront payment of $5 million and may be eligitdereceive an option exercise fee as
as milestone and royalty payments based on achieveof development and commercialization milestofiég rights we have relinquishec
our product candidate Tcelna, including developna commercialization rights, may harm our abitdygenerate revenues and achie\
sustain profitability.

If Merck exercises the Option, we would becomearglion Mercks resources and efforts with respect to Tcelna $1 NMh such an eve
Merck may fail to develop or effectively commercial Tcelna for a variety of reasons, including tkiatrck:

e does not have sufficient resources or decidesondévote the necessary resources due to inteonatraints such as limited cash or
human resources;

e decides to pursue a competitive potential prgduct
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e cannot obtain the necessary regulatory approvals;
e determines that the market opportunity is nahative; or
e cannot manufacture or obtain the necessary maeaniagufficient quantities from multiple sourcesabra reasonable co

If Merck does not exercise the Option, we may bahlmto enter into a collaboration with any othetemtial partner on acceptable term
at all. We face competition in our search for pars from other organizations worldwide, many obwhare larger and are able to offer n
attractive deals in terms of financial commitmertsntribution of human resources, or developmemtiufacturing, regulatory or commer«
expertise and support.

If Merck does not exercise the Option, and we artesnccessful in attracting another partner andreng into collaboration on accepta
terms, we may not be able to complete developmieat commercialize any product candidate, includiraglna. In such event, our ability
generate revenues and achieve or sustain profiyabibuld be significantly hindered and we may r@ able to continue operations
proposed, requiring us to modify our business ptartail various aspects of our operations or cepsgations.

We will need regulatory approvals for any producandidate, including Tcelna, prior to introductionot the market, which will requir
successful testing in clinical trials. Clinical tals are subject to extensive regulatory requirent&nand are very expensive, ti-consuming
and difficult to design and implement. Any productindidate, such as Tcelna, may fail to achieve egsary safety and efficacy endpoi
during clinical trials in which case we will be urae to generate revenue from the commercializatemd sale of our products.

Human clinical trials are very expensive and difficto design and implement, in part because they smbject to rigorous FLC
requirements, and must otherwise comply with feldestate and local requirements and policies of feglical institutions where they .
conducted. The clinical trial process is also ticwasuming. We reached our enroliment targetterAbili-T trial in June 2014, and a total
190 patients have been enrolled in this two-yeadyst We expect tofine data to be available in the second half of@0h addition, w
anticipate that at least a pivotal Phase Il chhicial would be necessary before an applicationlat be submitted for approval of Tcelna
SPMS. Failure can occur at any stage of the tréadd problems could be encountered that wouldecasr Merck (in the event the Optio
exercised) to be unable to initiate a trial, oab@andon or repeat a clinical trial.

The commencement and completion of clinical triadsjuding the continuation and completion of theaBe IIb clinical trial of Tcelna
SPMS, may be delayed or prevented by several &dtaluding:

e FDA or IRB objection to proposed protocols;

e discussions or disagreement with the FDA over thejaacy of trial design to potentially demonsteffectiveness, and subseq
design modifications;

e unforeseen safety issues;

e determination of dosing issues, epitope profies related adjustments;
e lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

e slower than expected rates of patient recruitment

e product quality problems (e.g., sterility or )i

e challenges to patient monitoring and data cdbbectiuring or after treatment (e.g., patients’ dedl to return for followdp visit
detection of epitope profiles in subsequent vigits,); and

e failure of medical investigators to follow our dlial protocols

In addition, we, Merck (if the Option is exerciseol) the FDA (based on its authority over clinicalidies) may delay a propos
investigation or suspend clinical trials in progred any time if it appears that the study may migeificant risks to the study participant:
other serious deficiencies are identified. Praapproval of any product candidate, the FDA metéednine that the data demonstrate s,
and effectiveness. The large majority of drug cdaigs that begin human clinical trials fail to derstrate the desired safety and effic
characteristics.

Furthermore, changes in regulatory requirementsgamdiance may occur and we may need to amend &litrial protocols, or otherwi:
modify our intended course of clinical developmeatieflect these changes. This, too, may imgaetbsts, timing or successful completio
a clinical trial. In light of widely publicized ents concerning the safety risk of certain drugdpots, regulatory authorities, member:
Congress, the U.S. Government Accountability Offiteedical professionals and the general public haised concerns about potential ¢
safety issues. These events have resulted in ithelrawal of drug products, revisions to drug lathglthat further limit use of the dr
products, and establishment of risk managementranag that may, for instance, restrict distributidrdrug products. The increased atter
to drug safety issues may result in a more cautigsoach by the FDA to clinical trials. Data fratinical trials may receive greater scru
with respect to safety, which may make the FDA threo regulatory authorities more likely to termmatinical trials before completion
require longer or additional clinical trials thataynresult in substantial additional expense ancelaydor failure in obtaining approval



approval for a more limited indication than origlgasought.
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Even if regulatory approval is obtained for anyduct candidate, such as Tcelna, any such approagllba subject to limitations on 1
indicated uses for which it may be marketed. (hilitp to generate revenues from the commerciatimatind sale of any potential produ
whether directly or through any development arramgret (such as where Merck exercises the Optiorh)owilimited by any failure to obtain
limitation on necessary regulatory approvals.

If Merck exercises the Option, Merck would be spledsponsible for funding development, regulatarg aommercialization activities 1
Tcelna in MS, although we would retain an optiorcdefund certain development in exchange for ineedaoyalty rates.

We will rely on third parties to conduct our clina trials and perform data collection and analysiwhich may result in costs and delays t
may hamper our ability to successfully develop aswmmercialize any product candidate, including Tiel

Although we have participated in the design andagament of our past clinical trials, we do not hthe ability to conduct clinical trie
directly for any product candidate, including TeeliWe will need to rely on contract research oizgions, medical institutions, clinic
investigators and contract laboratories to conductclinical trials and to perform data collectiand analysis, including the Phase b trie
Tcelna in patients with SPMS.

Our clinical trials may be delayed, suspended wniteated if:

e any third party upon whom we rely does not sucedlys€arry out its contractual duties or regulatadyligations or meet expec
deadlines;

e licenses needed from third parties for manufactuimorder to conduct Phase Il trials or to cortdemmmercial manufacturing
applicable, are not obtained;

e any such third party needs to be replaced; or

e the quality or accuracy of the data obtained bytthed party is compromised due to its failure tthare to clinical protocols
regulatory requirements or for other reast

Failure to perform by any third party upon whom vedy may increase our development costs, delayatility to obtain regulatol
approval and prevent the commercialization of argdpct candidate, including Tcelna. While we bedi¢hat there are numerous alterne
sources to provide these services, we might nathbe to enter into replacement arrangements withelstys or additional expenditures if
were to seek such alternative sources.

If we fail to identify and license or acquire othgaroduct candidates, we will not be able to expand business over the long terr

We have targeted MS as the first disease to beupdrsff our Teell platform technology. As a platform technolpglyere exists tt
potential to address other autoimmune diseasestiéttechnology. Minimal work has been done oetsiet lead MS indication. Our busin
over the long term is substantially dependent on ahility to develop, license or acquire produchdidates and further develop them
commercialization. The success of this strategpedds upon our ability to expand our existing platf or identify, select and acquire the r
product candidates. We have limited experiencetifyéng, negotiating and implementing economicaligble product candidate acquisiti
or licenses, which is a lengthy and complex praocédso, the market for licensing and acquiringguot candidates is intensely competit
and many of our competitors have greater resouttas we do. We may not have the requisite cap@aburces to consummate proc
candidate acquisitions or licenses that we identiffulfill our strategy.

Moreover, any product candidate acquisition thatlweomplete will involve numerous risks, including

e (difficulties in integrating the development pragr for the acquired product candidate into ourteygsoperations;
e diversion of financial and management resourcas existing operations;

e risks of entering new potential markets or tedbgies;

e inability to generate sufficient funding to offsquisition costs; and

e delays that may result from our having to performanticipated preclinical trials or other tests loa product candidat
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We are dependent upon our management team and allsmanber of employees.

Our business strategy is dependent upon the skillkknowledge of our management team. If anycatitmployee leaves, we may
unable on a timely basis to hire suitable replaceméo operate our business effectively. We algerate with a very small number
employees and thus have little or no backup cajpalfdr their activities. The loss of the servioglsany member of our management teau
the loss of just a few other employees could hanmtgerial adverse effect on our business and sesfitiperations.

If we fail to meet our obligations under our liceesagreements, we may lose our rights to key techgigls on which our business depen

Our business depends on licenses from third parfiégese third party license agreements imposegatobns on us, such as payn
obligations and obligations diligently to pursuevelepment of commercial products under the licensatbnts. We may also need to
additional licenses as we move into Phase lligréld, if applicable, the commercial stage of dpmra. These licenses may require incre
payments to the licensors. If a licensor believes tve have failed to meet our obligations undécemse agreement, the licensor could se
limit or terminate our license rights, which coulelad to costly and timeensuming litigation and, potentially, a loss ot tlicense
rights. During the period of any such litigatiaur ability to carry out the development and conuiadization of potential products could
significantly and negatively affected. If our licee rights were restricted or ultimately lost, ability to continue our business based or
affected technology platform could be adverselgetid.

Our research and manufacturing facility is not lagenough to manufacture product candidates, suchTalna, for certain clinical trial
or, if such clinical trials are successful, commaeat applications.

We conduct our research and development in a 1G@08re foot facility in The Woodlands, Texas, whiecludes an approximately 1,2
square foot suite of three rooms for the manufactdirT-cell therapies. We believe our facility should édkie capacity to support full clinit
development of Tcelna in North American trials ®PMS. It is not sufficient, however, to suppoinicial trials outside North Ameri
including Europe and Asia, if required, or the coanaial launch of Tcelna. In this case, we wouldd# expand our manufacturing staff
facility, obtain a new facility, contract with caymte collaborators or other third parties to assigh future drug production a
commercialization, or defer to Merck (in the eviir@ Option is exercised) to address manufactuengirements.

In the event that we decide to establish a commakscale manufacturing facility, we will require sudnstial additional funds and will
required to hire and train significant numbers wipboyees and comply with applicable regulationsicilare extensive. We do not have fL
available for building a manufacturing facility,diave may not be able to build a manufacturing figcihat both meets regulatory requiremi
and is sufficient for our commercial-scale manufacg.

We may arrange with third parties for the manufexiof our future products, if any. However, ouirdkparty sourcing strategy may |
result in a cost-effective means for manufactuongfuture products. If we employ thighrty manufacturers, we will not control many asg
of the manufacturing process, including compliabgahese third parties with cGMP and other reguatequirements. We further may nof
able to obtain adequate supplies from thpedty manufacturers in a timely fashion for devel@mt or commercialization purposes,
commercial quantities of products may not be atglérom contract manufacturers at acceptable costs

Problems with our manufacturing process or with anofacturing facility (whether ours or a third gas) could result in the failure
produce, or a delay in producing, adequate supplfiécelna. A number of factors could cause infetions or delays, including equipm
malfunctions or failures, destruction or damage tmanufacturing facility due to natural disastersotherwise, contamination of materii
changes in regulatory requirements or standardsélgaire modifications to our manufacturing pragesction by a regulatory agency or t
manufacturer (whether us or a third party) thaultesin the halting or slowdown of production duwe regulatory issues, any thighrty
manufacturer going out of business or failing toduce as contractually required, or other siméatdrs.

Difficulties, delays or interruptions in the mancifiare and supply of Tcelna could require us to dteating patients in our clinic
development of Tcelna and/or require a halt touspension of, or otherwise adversely affect, aiadintrial, thus increasing our costs .
damaging our reputation. If Tcelna is approveffiadilties, delays or interruptions in the manufaet and supply of Tcelna could cause a ¢
in or even halt or suspend the commercializatiomagina, potentially causing a partial or compless of revenue or market share.

Tcelna is manufactured using our proprietary Immga® technology for the production of an autologouscell immunotherapy utilizing .
patienfs own blood. Our manufacturing process may raisevdlopment issues that may not be resolvable, raguy issues that could del
or prevent approval, or personnel issues that magvent the further development or commercializatjoifi approved, of any produ
candidate such as Tcelna.

Tcelna is based on our novel T-cell immunotheralggf@m, Immpath, which produces an autologousell-immunotherapy utilizing
patient's own blood. The manufacture of livingc&H products requires specialized facilities, @guént and personnel which are different -
the resources required for manufacturing chemichiaogic compounds. Scalingt the manufacture of living cell products to méetand
for commercialization will require substantial amésiof such specialized facilities, equipment aetspnnel, especially where, as is the
for Teclna, the product is personalized and mustragle for each patient individually. Because owamufacturing process for Teclne
complex, requires facilities and personnel thatrextewidely available in the industry, involves gmuent and training with long lead times,
the establishment of new manufacturing facilitesubject to a potentially lengthy regulatory appigrocess, alternative qualified produc
capacity may not be available on a timely basisroreasonably terms, if at all. In addition, nany consultants or advisors in the indu
have relevant experience and can provide guidan@ssistance because active immune therapies sudlcadna are fundamentally a r
category of product in two major ways: (i) the g¢wot consists of living Tells, not chemical or biologic compounds; and tfi¢ product i
personalized. There can be no assurance that emntihg problems will not arise in the future whiwe may not be able to resolve or wi



may cause significant delays in development ofcélna is approved, commercialization.
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Regulatory approval of product candidates suchcadna that are manufactured using novel manufagysrocesses such as ours ca
more expensive and take longer than other, morkkmeln or extensively studied pharmaceutical or baamaceutical products, due to a |
of experience with them. FDA approval of persaredi immunotherapy products has been limited to.dahés lack of experience a
precedent may lengthen the regulatory review pmaesgjuire that additional studies or clinicallfibe conducted, increase development ¢
lead to changes in regulatory positions and in&tgtions, delay or prevent approval and commeeeititin, or lead to significant poapprova
limitations or restrictions.

In addition, the novel nature of Tcelna also metlrad fewer people are trained in or experiencedh pitoduct candidates of this ty
which may make it difficult to find, hire and retatapable personnel for research, development amdifacturing positions.

If any product we may eventually have is not acaspby the market or if users of any such produceamable to obtain adequate cover:
of and reimbursement for such product from governmend other third-party payors, our revenues antbfitability will suffer.

In the instance of Tcelna, if Merck exercises thi@ then our ability to achieve revenue will lpdndent upon the efforts and succe
Merck in developing and commercializing Tcelna.r @bility to successfully commercialize any prodwet may eventually have, to the ex
applicable, and/or our ability to receive any ravemssociated with Tcelna in the event Merck egescthe Option, will depend in signific
part on the extent to which appropriate coverageamd reimbursement for such product and any relateatments are obtained fr
governmental authorities, private health insurerd ather organizations, such as health maintenanganizations, or HMOs. Thirgarty
payors are increasingly challenging the prices gindifor medical products and services. We canrmtigie any assurances that thpdrty
payors will consider any product cost-effectivepoovide coverage of and reimbursement for suchympdn whole or in part.

Uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbuesé status of newly approved medical products serdices and newly appro\
indications for existing products. Third-party pay may conclude that any product is less safs,disically effective, or less costfective
than existing products, and thipdrty payors may not approve such product for amyerand reimbursement. If adequate coverage ¢
reimbursement for any product from thipdsty payors cannot be obtained, physicians mai hiow much or under what circumstances
will prescribe or administer them. Such reductisrimitation in the use of any such product woallise sales to suffer. Even if thjperty
payors make reimbursement available, payment lemalsnot be sufficient to make the sale of any sarcluct profitable.

In addition, the trend towards managed health ratbe United States and the concurrent growthrgémizations such as HMOs, wh
could control or significantly influence the purskeaof medical services and products, may resuitadequate coverage of and reimburse|
for any product we may eventually have. Many tpedty payors, including in particular HMOs, are fuing various ways to redt
pharmaceutical costs, including, for instance,ube of formularies. The market for any productedels on access to such formularies, w
are lists of medications for which thipghrty payors provide reimbursement. These forrmagaare increasingly restricted, and pharmace!
companies face significant competition in theiroeff to place their products on formularies of HM&wd other thirgearty payors. Th
increased competition has led to a downward prigngssure in the industry. The cost containmenasuees that thirgharty payors ai
instituting could have a material adverse effecbonability to operate profitably.

Any product candidate, such as Tcelna, if approvéat sale, may not gain acceptance among physiciapatients and the medic
community, thereby limiting our potential to genemarevenues.

Even if a product candidate, such as Tcelna, iscumgl for commercial sale by the FDA or other ragpdy authorities, the degree
market acceptance of any approved product candimatghysicians, healthcare professionals and théndy payors, and our profitability a
growth, will depend on a number of factors, inchgli

e demonstration of efficacy;

e relative convenience and ease of administration;
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e the prevalence and severity of any adverse sidets;

e availability and cost of alternative treatmeitsjuding cheaper generic drugs;

e pricing and cost effectiveness, which may beextitp regulatory control;

o effectiveness of sales and marketing strategiethe product and competition for such product;

e the product labeling or product insert requirgdhe FDA or regulatory authority in other coungriand

the availability of adequate th-party insurance coverage or reimbursem

If any product candidate does not provide a treatmegimen that is as beneficial as the currentdsted of care or otherwise does
provide patient benefit, that product candidateapproved for commercial sale by the FDA or otregutatory authorities, likely will n
achieve market acceptance and our ability to gémeeaenues from that product candidate would bstantially reduced.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to incimgreased costs and risks as a result of being ®dlpucompany.

As a public company, we are required to comply vilie Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, or SOX, as well as rules andutatjons
implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock MakRASDAQ). Changes in the laws and regulations ciiifgy public companie
including the provisions of SOX and rules adoptgdhe SEC and by NASDAQ, have resulted in, and galhtinue to result in, increased ci
to us as we respond to their requirements. Gilierrisks inherent in the design and operation @friral controls over financial reporting,
effectiveness of our internal controls over finaheceporting is uncertain. If our internal congr@re not designed or operating effectively
may not be able to conclude an evaluation of otarival control over financial reporting as requitedve or our independent registered pt
accounting firm may determine that our internaltoginover financial reporting was not effectiven dddition, our registered public accoun
firm may either disclaim an opinion as it relatesrtanagemerg’assessment of the effectiveness of our inteordtals or may issue an adve
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal caoistmver financial reporting. Investors may losaftdence in the reliability of our financ
statements, which could cause the market priceunfcommon stock to decline and which could affaat ability to run our business as
otherwise would like to. New rules could also makenore difficult or more costly for us to obtagertain types of insurance, includ
directors’ and officersliability insurance, and we may be forced to aceeguced policy limits and coverage or incur sutiiidly higher cost
to obtain the coverage that is the same or sirglawr current coverage. The impact of these avemtild also make it more difficult for us
attract and retain qualified persons to serve anBmard of Directors, our Board committees and>acative officers. We cannot predici
estimate the total amount of the costs we may inctine timing of such costs to comply with theskes and regulations.

Under the corporate governance standards of NASDaQ@ajority of our Board of Directors and each membf our Audit an
Compensation Committees must be an independerttalirelf any vacancies on our Board or our AuditGompensation Committees oc
that need to be filled by independent directors, may encounter difficulty in attracting qualifiecenrgsons to serve on our Board anc
particular, our Audit Committee. If we fail to &ttt and retain the required number of independ@etctors, we may be subject to £
enforcement proceedings and delisting of our comatook from the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Any acquisitions that we make could disrupt our lisss and harm our financial conditiol

We expect to evaluate potential strategic acquoisstiof complementary businesses, products or témffies on a global geograp
footprint. We may also consider joint venturegefising and other collaborative projects. We may lbe able to identify appropric
acquisition candidates or strategic partners, acessfully negotiate, finance or integrate acqoisit of any businesses, products
technologies. Furthermore, the integration of aoguisition and management of any collaborativgeptanay divert our managemestime
and resources from our core business and disruppperations. We do not have any experience witjuising companies, or with acquiri
products outside of the United States. Any casjuiaition we pursue would potentially divert theskkave have on our balance sheet fron
present clinical development programs. Any stodguigitions would dilute our shareholdeminership. While we from time to time evalt
potential collaborative projects and acquisitiofiduasinesses, products and technologies, and jpaticicontinuing to make these evaluati
we have no present commitments or agreements asghect to any acquisitions or collaborative praject

Risks Related to Doing Business Internationa

We plan to do business internationally, which megvp to be difficult and fraught with economic, végtory and political issues. We n
acquire or in-license foreign companies or techgie® or commercialize our @ell or stem cell platform in countries where thesines:
economic and political climates are very differéiom those of the United States. We may not berawasome of these issues and it ma
difficult for a U.S. company to overcome these éssand ultimately become profitable. Certain fgmetountries may favor businesses tha
owned by nationals of those countries as opposddragn-owned business operating locally. As a small cargpave may not have t
resources to engage in the negotiation and timetenimg work needed to overcome some of these patésgues.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Patents obtained by other persons may result irrimjement claims against us that are costly to dedeand which may limit our ability t
use the disputed technologies and prevent us framsping research and development or commercialipatiof potential products, such
Tcelna.

If third party patents or patent applications cantdaims infringed by either our licensed techmyl@r other technology required to m
or use our potential products, such as Tcelnasant claims are ultimately determined to be validre can be no assurance that we wou
able to obtain licenses to these patents at amahiocost, if at all, or be able to develop oragbalternative technology. If we are unabl
obtain such licenses at a reasonable cost, wén(tite event the Option is exercised, Merck witbpext to Tcelna) may not be able to dev
any affected product candidate commercially. Thoene be no assurance that we will not be obligedefend ourselves (or, in the event
Option is exercised, Merck with respect to Tcelimaourt against allegations of infringement ofrthparty patents. Patent litigation is v
expensive and could consume substantial resouraksraate significant uncertainties. An adverseame in such a suit could subject u
significant liabilities to third parties, requirésguted rights to be licensed from third parties;eguire us to cease using such technology.

If we are unable to obtain patent protection ancher proprietary rights, our operations will be sigficantly harmed.

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent migabtaining patent protection relating to our teabgies. The patent positions
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, inolydiurs, are uncertain and involve complex andwwgllegal and factual questions. ~
coverage sought in a patent application can beedegri significantly reduced before or after theepats issued. Consequently, we do not k
whether pending patent applications for our tecbgwlwill result in the issuance of patents, ornfydassued patents will provide signific.
protection or commercial advantage or will be ainmented by others. Since patent applications @cees until the applications are publis
(usually 18 months after the earliest effectivendjl date), and since publication of discoveriesha scientific or patent literature often |
behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certaintki@inventors of our owned or licensed intelletforoperty rights were the first to make
inventions at issue or that any patent applicatamissue were the first to be filed for such irni@ms. There can be no assurance that p:
will issue from pending patent applications olisgued, that such patents will be of commerciaklieto us, afford us adequate protection f
competing products, or not be challenged or dedlamealid.

For our licensed intellectual property, we haveitiah control over the amount or timing of resourtiest are devoted to the prosecutio
certain of such intellectual property. Due to tlaisk of control and general uncertainties in tléept prosecution process, we cannot be
that any licensed patents will result from licensggplications or, if they do, that they will be migined. Issued U.S. patents require
payment of maintenance fees to continue to bercefoWe rely on licensors to do this and theilufai to do so could result in the forfeiture
patents not timely maintained. Many foreign pat#fites also require the payment of periodic atiesito keep patents and patent applica
in good standing. As we may not maintain contrarothe payment of all such annuities, we cannsti@syou that our licensors will time
pay such annuities and that the granted patentpamding patent applications will not become abaedo In addition, our licensors may h
selected a limited amount of foreign patent pradectand therefore applications have not been filecdnd foreign patents may not have t
perfected in, all commercially significant counsiie

The patent protection of product candidates, suclicelna, involves complex legal and factual qoesti To the extent that it would
necessary or advantageous for any of our licenisarsoperate or lead in the enforcement of ounbeel intellectual property rights, we car
control the amount or timing of resources suchigges devote on our behalf or the priority theycplan enforcing such rights. We may nc
able to protect our intellectual property rightaiagt third party infringement, which may be difficto detect. Additionally, challenges may
made to the ownership of our intellectual propeidirts, our ability to enforce them, or our undertylicenses.

We cannot be certain that any of the patents issued or to our licensors will provide adequatet@ction from competing products. (
success will depend, in part, on whether we ofioansors can:

e obtain and maintain patents to protect our prbdandidates such as Tcelna;
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e obtain and maintain any required or desirablenses to use certain technologies of third pasiagsh may be protected by patents;
e protect our trade secrets and know-how;

e operate without infringing the intellectual profyeand proprietary rights of others;

e enforce the issued patents under which we hgtdsj and

e develop additional proprietary technologies that @atentable

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits (owned or licensed) is uncertain. For eplam

e we or our licensor might not have been the firghtake the inventions covered by pending patentigatfins or issued patents ow
by, or licensed to, us;

e we or our licensor might not have been the fodile patent applications for these inventions;
e others may independently develop similar or altéveaechnologies or duplicate any of the techni@s@wned by, or licensed to,
e itis possible that none of the pending pateptieations owned by, or licensed to, us will resalissued patents;

e any patents under which we hold rights may not id@wus with a basis for commercially viable produachay not provide us with i
competitive advantages or may be challenged by fiarties as invalid, or unenforceable under UrSomreign laws; or

e any of the issued patents under which we hold sighdy not be valid or enforceable or may be cireemted successfully in light
the continuing evolution of domestic and foreigepd laws.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheénay not adequately prevent disclosure of our &askcrets and other propriete
information and may not adequately protect our itiextual property, which could limit our ability taompete.

We rely in part on trade secret protection in omdgorotect our proprietary trade secrets and wmtatl knowhow. However, trade secr
are difficult to protect, and we cannot be certhit others will not develop the same or similahteologies on their own. We have taken s
including entering into confidentiality agreemewnith our employees, consultants, outside scientifitaborators and other advisors, to prc
our trade secrets and unpatented kimm-. These agreements generally require thattter @arty keep confidential and not disclose taod
parties all confidential information developed I tparty or made known to the party by us durirgdburse of the party’relationship wit
us. We also typically obtain agreements from theesgies which provide that inventions conceivedtly party in the course of render
services to us will be our exclusive property. Howr, these agreements may not be honored and otagffiectively assign intellectt
property rights to us. Further, we have limitedtcol, if any, over the protection of trade seciseloped by our licensors. Enforcing a ¢
that a party illegally obtained and is using owde secrets or knotww is difficult, expensive and time consuming, &hd outcome
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside thetethiStates may be less willing to protect tradeetecr knowhow. The failure to obtain
maintain trade secret protection could adversdcabur competitive position.

A dispute concerning the infringement or misappragtion of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryrights of others could be tin
consuming and costly, and an unfavorable outcomeiltbharm our business.

A number of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and ottmnpanies, universities and reseairtstitutions have filed patent applications
have been issued patents relating to cell therfimells, and other technologies potentially relevianor required by our product candic
Tcelna. We cannot predict which, if any, of sugplecations will issue as patents or the claimg thight be allowed. We are aware ¢
number of patent applications and patents claimseyof modified cells to treat disease, disordenjary.

There is significant litigation in our industry eegling patent and other intellectual property sghivhile we are not currently subjec
any pending intellectual property litigation, ane aot aware of any such threatened litigation/way be exposed to future litigation by tt
parties based on claims that our product candidatesh as Tcelna, or their methods of use, manufagt or other technologies or activit
infringe the intellectual property rights of sudfird parties. If our product candidates, such aslfia, or their methods of manufacture
found to infringe any such patents, we may haveayp significant damages or seek licenses under patdmts. We have not conduc
comprehensive searches of patents issued to thitéep relating to Tcelna. Consequently, no asggraan be given that thifghrty patent
containing claims covering Tcelna, its method oé ws manufacture do not exist or have not beemr fdad will not be issued in t
future. Because some patent applications in thigetrStates may be maintained in secrecy untilpdients are issued, and because ¢
applications in the United States and many forgigisdictions are typically not published until #®nths after filing, we cannot be certain
others have not filed patent applications that miditure into issued patents that relate to ourectior future product candidates that could
a material effect in developing and commercializomge or more of our product candidates. A patefddr could prevent us from importii
making, using or selling the patented compoundg. rifdy need to resort to litigation to enforce mtellectual property rights or to determ
the scope and validity of thirndarty proprietary rights. Similarly, we may be gdb to claims that we have inappropriately usedlisclose:
trade secrets or other proprietary informationhifdt parties. If we become involved in litigatiahcould consume a substantial portion of
managerial and financial resources, regardlesshether we win or lose. Some of our competitors tm@ble to sustain the costs of com
intellectual property litigation more effectivelggn we can because they have substantially gnesieurces. We may not be able to afforc
costs of litigation. Any legal action against usoar collaborators could lead 1
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e payment of actual damages, royalties, lost mofiotentially treble damages and attorndgs’s, if we are found to have willfi
infringed a third party’s patent rights;

e injunctive or other equitable relief that mayeetively block our ability to further develop, coramialize and sell our products;

e we or our collaborators having to enter into liGeasrangements that may not be available on coniatigracceptable terms if at
or

e significant cost and expense, as well as distraafaour management from our busine
As a result, we could be prevented from commemiiadi current or future product candidates.
Risks Related to Our Industry
We are subject to stringent regulation of our proclucandidates, such as Tcelna, which could delayelepment and commercialization.

We, our thirdparty contractors, suppliers and partners (sudideask, in the event the Option is exercised, wéhpect to Tcelna), and «
product candidates, such as Tcelna, are subjestritment regulation by the FDA and other regulatagencies in the United States ant
comparable authorities in other countries. Nonewfproduct candidates can be marketed in theedr8tates until it has been approved b
FDA. No product candidate of ours has been apphoaed we may never receive FDA approval for amgdpet candidate. Obtaining FI
approval typically takes many years and requiréstsuntial resources. Even if regulatory approsaltitained, the FDA may impose signific
restrictions on the indicated uses, conditionsuee and labeling of such products. Additionallyg #DA may require posipproval studie
including additional research and development dimital trials. These regulatory requirements miayitithe size of the market for the prod
or result in the incurrence of additional costsiyAdelay or failure in obtaining required approvetsuld substantially reduce our ability
generate revenues.

In addition, both before and after regulatory apptpwe, our partners and our product candidatesh as Tcelna, are subject to nume
FDA requirements covering, among other things,ingstmanufacturing, quality control, labeling, adisng, promotion, distribution ai
export. The FDAS requirements may change and additional governnegndations may be promulgated that could affegtaur partners a
our product candidates, such as Tcelna. Givemuhgber of recent high profile adverse safety eveuitts certain drug products, the FDA n
require, as a condition of approval, costly risknagement programs, which may include safety suaveié, restricted distribution and
patient education, enhanced labeling, special macgaor labeling, expedited reporting of certairverde events, preapproval of promotic
materials and restrictions on direct-to-consumeedtsing. Furthermore, heightened Congressionaitisy on the adequacy of the FDsAdru¢
approval process and the agescgfforts to assure the safety of marketed drugslted in the enactment of legislation addressing dafet
issues, the FDA Amendments Act of 2007. This lagjiien provides the FDA with expanded authority iogeug products after approval and
FDA's exercise of this authority could result in delaysncreased costs during the period of produgeligpment, clinical trials and regulat
review and approval, and increased costs to assomgpliance with new postpproval regulatory requirements. We cannot pretlie
likelihood, nature or extent of government regaiatihat may arise from this or future legislatiaradministrative action, either in the Uni
States or abroad.

In order to market any of our products outsidehaf United States, we and our strategic partnerdie@masees must establish and cor
with numerous and varying regulatory requiremeffitstioer countries regarding safety and efficacypigval procedures vary among couni
and can involve additional product testing and talaal administrative review periods and the tineguired to obtain approval in otl
countries might differ from that required to obt&DA approval. The regulatory approval processthrer countries may include all of the ri
detailed above regarding FDA approval in the Unigtdtes. Approval by the FDA does not automatjcahd to the approval of authorit
outside of the United States and, similarly, apptdy other regulatory authorities outside the EahiStates will not automatically lead to F
approval. In addition, regulatory approval in arwuntry does not ensure regulatory approval interotbut a failure or delay in obtain
regulatory approval in one country may negativetpact the regulatory process in others. Our prodacdidates, such as Tcelna, may n
approved for all indications that we request, whiebuld limit uses and adversely impact our poténtigyalties and product sales. S
approval may be subject to limitations on the iatéd uses for which any potential product may beketad or require costly, postarketing
follow-up studies.
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If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory néicements in the United States and other countaiegng other things, we may be sut
to fines and other civil penalties, delays in apprg or failure to approve a product, suspensiowitihdrawal of regulatory approvals, prod
recalls, seizure of products, operating restrigjanterruption of manufacturing or clinical triaigjunctions and criminal prosecution, an)
which would harm our business.

We may need to change our business practices toptpmwith health care fraud and abuse regulationspé our failure to comply with suc
laws could adversely affect our business, finanataindition and results of operations.

If Merck exercises the Option, Merck would be splesponsible for funding development, regulatarg aommercialization activities 1
Tcelna in MS, although we would retain an optiortédund certain development in exchange for increaegdlty rates. Otherwise, if we i
successful in achieving approval to market one orenof our product candidates, our operations kelldirectly, or indirectly through ¢
customers, subject to various state and federatifeand abuse laws, including, without limitatiolne federal AntiKickback Statute and Fa
Claims Act. These laws may impact, among othemgthiour proposed sales, marketing, and educatigrams.

The federal AntiKickback Statute prohibits persons from knowinghdawillfully soliciting, offering, receiving or pndding remuneratiol
directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to indueither the referral of an individual, or the fishing or arranging for a good or service,
which payment may be made under a federal heaéitmagram such as the Medicare and Medicaid pragr&everal courts have interpre
the statutes intent requirement to mean that if any one puwpmisan arrangement involving remuneration is tuge referrals of fedel
healthcare covered business, the statute has lielated. The AntiKickback Statute is broad and prohibits many areamgnts and practic
that are lawful in businesses outside of the healthindustry. Recognizing that the AKiekback Statute is broad and may technically poit
many innocuous or beneficial arrangements, Congregworized the Department of Health and Humani&esy Office of Inspector General,
OIG, to issue a series of regulations, known asshte harbors.These safe harbors set forth provisions that] thair applicable requiremet
are met, will assure healthcare providers and gbleties that they will not be prosecuted underAné-Kickback Statute. The failure o
transaction or arrangement to fit precisely witbive or more safe harbors does not necessarily thaait is illegal or that prosecution will
pursued. However, conduct and business arrangsrtteattdo not fully satisfy each applicable safedbbamay result in increased scrutiny
government enforcement authorities such as the ®&halties for violations of the federal Aktickback Statute include criminal penali
and civil sanctions such as fines, imprisonment possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid andeottederal healthcare programs. M
states have also adopted laws similar to the féderia Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the refeaof patients for healthcare items
services reimbursed by any source, not only theidded and Medicaid programs.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits persons florowingly filing or causing to be filed a falseath to, or the knowing use of fa
statements to obtain payment from, the federal gowent. Suits filed under the False Claims Act,Wwna@s “qui tam”actions, can be brou
by any individual on behalf of the government andhsindividuals, sometimes known as “relators”ranre commonly, as “whistleblowers,”
may share in any amounts paid by the entity togtheernment in fines or settlement. The frequenciiliofy of qui tam actions has increa:
significantly in recent years, causing greater nerslof healthcare companies to have to defend seFzlaims Act action. When an entit
determined to have violated the federal False aft, it may be required to pay up to three tintes actual damages sustained by
government, plus civil penalties. Various stategehaso enacted laws modeled after the federabFaBims Act.

In addition to the laws described above, the Helmglurance Portability and Accountability Act of9®created two new federal crim
healthcare fraud and false statements relating#dificare matters. The healthcare fraud statuteilyits knowingly and willfully executing
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit prograohiding private payors. A violation of this stegus a felony and may result in fin
imprisonment or exclusion from government sponsgeahrams. The false statements statute prohibitsvingly and willfully falsifying
concealing or covering up a material fact or malkang materially false, fictitious or fraudulent tgt@ent in connection with the delivery of
payment for healthcare benefits, items or servidesiolation of this statute is a felony and magult in fines or imprisonment.

Beginning August 1, 2013, the Physician PaymentssBine Act (the “Sunshine Act”which is part of the Patient Protection
Affordable Care Act, requires manufacturers of drugedical devices, biologicals or medical suppliest participate in U.S. federal hei
care programs to track and then report certain paysnand items of value given to U.S. physiciarg ErS. teaching hospitals (definec
“Covered Recipients”).The Sunshine Act requires that manufacturers ddlés information on a yearly basis and then refido Centers fc
Medicare & Medicaid Services by the 90th day ofresibsequent year.

If our operations are found to be in violation ofyaf the laws described above and other applicstalie and federal fraud and abuse |

we may be subject to penalties, including civil amnidninal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion fgoaernment healthcare programs, anc
curtailment or restructuring of our operations.
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If our competitors develop and market products thate more effective than our product candidateseyhmay reduce or eliminate o
commercial opportunities.

Competition in the pharmaceutical industry, patidy the market for MS products, is intense, aredlexpect such competition to conti
to increase. We face competition from pharmacalind biotechnology companies, as well as numeacagemic and research instituti
and governmental agencies, in the United Statesatndad. Our competitors have products that haentapproved or are in advan
development and may succeed in developing drugsateamore effective, safer and more affordablenore easily administered than ours
that achieve patent protection or commercializatewoner than our products. Our most significaninpetitors are fully integrat
pharmaceutical companies and more establishedchioddogy companies. These companies have significgreater capital resources
expertise in research and development, manufagiurésting, obtaining regulatory approvals, andkating than we currently do. Howey
smaller companies also may prove to be significzarpetitors, particularly through proprietary resbadiscoveries and collaborat
arrangements with large pharmaceutical and eskadli®iotechnology companies. In addition to thengetitors with existing products tl
have been approved, many of our competitors atbdumlong in the process of product developmedtaso operate large, compafudec
research and development programs. As a resultcampetitors may develop more competitive or afédnle products, or achieve ea
patent protection or further product commercialmathan we are able to achieve. Competitive prtxlutay render any products or proc
candidates that we develop obsolete.

Our competitors may also develop alternative thesaghat could further limit the market for any guoats that we may develop.
Rapid technological change could make our produotssolete

Biopharmaceutical technologies have undergone rapéisignificant change, and we expect that thélycentinue to do so. As a res!
there is significant risk that our product candégatsuch as Tcelna, may be rendered obsolete oonomical by new discoveries before
recover any expenses incurred in connection withr tdevelopment. If our product candidates, suchTealna, are rendered obsolete
advancements in biopharmaceutical technologiesfuture prospects will suffer.

Consumers may sue us for product liability, whicbwd result in substantial liabilities that exceealr available resources and damage ¢
reputation.

Developing and commercializing drug products eatailynificant product liability risks. Liability aims may arise from our and
collaborators’ use of products in clinical trialsdathe commercial sale of those products.

In the event that any of our product candidatesimes an approved product and is commercializedswzsnars may make product liabi
claims directly against us and/or our partnersi{sag Merck, in the event the Option is exerciseth vespect to Tcelna), and our partner
others selling these products may seek contributimm us if they incur any loss or expenses relateduch claims. We have insurance
covers clinical trial activities. We believe ousimance coverage as of the date hereof is reagoadbtuate at this time. However, we
need to increase and expand this coverage as waeoce additional clinical trials, as well as largeale trials, and if any product candida
approved for commercial sale. This insurance mayrodibitively expensive or may not fully cover ogpotential liabilities. Our inability 1
obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an accéptabst or otherwise to protect against potentiadpct liability claims could prevent
inhibit the regulatory approval or commercializatiof products that we or one of our collaboratageadop. Product liability claims could he
a material adverse effect on our business andtsesfibperations. Liability from such claims codgdceed our total assets if we do not pre
in any lawsuit brought by a third party allegingtlan injury was caused by one or more of our petsdu

Government controls and health care reform measupesild adversely affect our business.

The business and financial condition of pharmacaufind biotechnology companies are affected byeffugts of governmental and third-
party payors to contain or reduce the costs oftheare. In the United States and in foreign glidons, there have been, and we expec
there will continue to be, a number of legislatased regulatory proposals aimed at changing thettheare system. For example, in s
foreign countries, particularly in Europe, the prge of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject twagnmental control. In these countr
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities take considerable time after the receipt oketarg approval for a product candidate
obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in somanties, we may be required to conduct additiotiaiaal trials that compare the cost-
effectiveness of any product candidate, such ala@ce other available therapies. If reimbursenodrany product candidate such as Tcelr
approved, is unavailable or limited in scope or antan a particular country, or if pricing is sdtumsatisfactory levels, we may be unabl
achieve or sustain profitability in such countip. the United States, the Medicare PrescriptiongDimprovement, and Modernization Acl
2003 (MMA) changed the way Medicare covers and gaypharmaceutical products. The legislation disthbd Medicare Part D, whi
expanded Medicare coverage for outpatient presoniiirug purchases by the elderly but provided @it for limiting the number of drug
that will be covered in any therapeutic class. MA also introduced a new reimbursement methodolbgged on average sales price:
physicianadministered drugs. Any negotiated prices for argdpct candidate such as Tcelna, if approved, eavéy a Part D prescripti
drug plan will likely be lower than the prices tmitght otherwise be obtained outside of the Medid@art D prescription drug plan. Moreo
while Medicare Part D applies only to drug benefds Medicare beneficiaries, private payors oftetioiv Medicare coverage policy a
payment limitations in setting their own paymertesa Any reduction in payment under Medicare Parh&y result in a similar reduction
payments from non-governmental payors.

34




The United States and several other jurisdictiorscansidering, or have already enacted, a nuntbegislative and regulatory propos
to change the healthcare system in ways that caffédt our ability to sell any product candidatetsas Tcelna, if approved. Among policy
makers and payors in the United States and elsewttare is significant interest in promoting chesign healthcare systems with the st
goals of containing healthcare costs, improvingliguand/or expanding access to healthcare. InLthited States, the pharmaceutical indL
has been a particular focus of these efforts asdblean significantly affected by major legislatiméiatives. There have been, and likely
continue to be, legislative and regulatory propesal the federal and state levels directed at lerad the availability of healthcare ¢
containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. Vdanot predict the initiatives that may be adoptethe future. The continuing efforts of
government, insurance companies, managed careipatjians and other payors of healthcare servicenitain or reduce costs of healthi
may adversely affect: the demand for any produntlickate such as Tcelna, if approved; the abilitggba price that we believe is fair for
product candidate such as Tcelna, if approved;ability to generate revenues and achieve or mairgedfitability; the level of taxes that
are required to pay; and the availability of capita

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhre Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edudsfordability Reconciliatiol
Act (collectively, the ACA), became law in the Usdt States. The goal of the ACA is to reduce thé abkealthcare and substantially cha
the way healthcare is financed by both governmeata private insurers. The ACA may result in dowrdvpressure on pharmaceut
reimbursement, which could negatively affect maateptance of any product candidate such as Tdélapproved. Provisions of the A(
relevant to the pharmaceutical industry includeftilwing: an annual, nondeductible fee on anyitgrthat manufactures or imports cer
branded prescription drugs and biologic agentsodigmed among these entities according to theirketashare in certain governm
healthcare programs; an increase in the rebatesnaifacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug RePatgram to 23.1% and 13% of
average manufacturer price for branded and germetigs, respectively; a new Medicare Part D covemgae discount program, in whi
manufacturers must agree to offer 50% poinsale discounts on negotiated prices of applicabded drugs to eligible beneficiaries dui
their coverage gap period, as a condition for thenufacturers outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicaré Barextension ¢
manufacturersMedicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispehse individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid magégare organizatior
expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid progms by, among other things, allowing states t@roffledicaid coverage to additio
individuals and by adding new mandatory eligibildstegories for certain individuals with incomeoatbelow 133% of the Federal Pove
Level beginning in 2014, thereby potentially inaieg manufacturerdiedicaid rebate liability; expansion of the enstigligible for discoun
under the Public Health Service pharmaceuticalimgigprogram; new requirements under the federalnOpayments program and
implementing regulations; and expansion of heatthdeaud and abuse laws, including the federal &=&llaims Act and the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, new government investigative pavand enhanced penalties for noncompliance. diitiad, other legislative changes h
been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enddtede changes include aggregate reductions tichtedpayments to providers of uj
2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in AR2D13. In January 2013, President Obama signedantdhe American Taxpayer Relief Act
2012, which, among other things, reduced Medicaserents to several types of providers, and incoetfee statute of limitations period for
government to recover overpayments to providens filoree to five years. These new laws may resuddilitional reductions in Medicare ¢
other healthcare funding.

Another example of reform that could affect ouribass is drug reimportation into the United Stdtes, the reimportation of approv
drugs originally manufactured in the United Stalbegk into the United States from other countrieenghthe drugs were sold at loy
prices). Initiatives in this regard could decretise price we or any potential collaborators reediwr our product candidates if they are
approved for sale, adversely affecting our futwweenue growth and potential profitability. Moregvéhe pendency or approval of s
proposals could result in a decrease in our stoick pr adversely affect our ability to raise capdr to obtain strategic partnerships or licen

Risks Related to Our Securities

There is currently a limited market for our secuids, and any trading market that exists in our seities may be highly illiquid and may n
reflect the underlying value of our net assets ardiness prospects.

Although our common stock is traded on the NASDAgpital Market, there is currently a limited market our securities and there «

be no assurance that an active market will eveeldgv Investors are cautioned not to rely on thesbility that an active trading market n
develop.
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Our stock may be delisted from NASDAQ, which coalfect its market price and liquidity.

We are required to meet certain qualitative andrfaial tests (including a minimum stockholdegguity of $2.5 million and a minimu
bid price for our common stock of $1.00 per shaas)well as certain corporate governance standerdsaintain the listing of our comm
stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market. It is possiltlat we could fail to satisfy one or more of theegquirements. For example,
stockholders’ equity of $1,341,611 as of June 31,32was below the minimum stockholdeesjuity of $2.5 million required by NASDAQ
maintain compliance. However, on August 13, 2018 raised gross proceeds of $18 million throughstile of shares of our common stoc
an underwritten public offering, or net proceedsapproximately $16.2 million after deducting undeting discounts and commissions
offering expenses, and the proceeds of such salkasés of our common stock enabled us to attaimeifjuired level of stockholdersguity tc
maintain compliance. The trading price of our comnstock has at certain times in the past faileddmply with the minimum bid pric
requirement.

While we are exercising diligent efforts to maintétie listing of our common stock on NASDAQ, thees be no assurance that we wil
able to maintain compliance with the stockholdertjuity, minimum bid price or other listing stargain the future. We may receive additic
future notices from NASDAQ that we have failed teehits requirements, and proceedings to deliststagk could be commenced. In s
event, NASDAQ rules permit us to appeal any delgsiiletermination to a NASDAQ Hearings Panel. Ifave unable to maintain or reg
compliance in a timely manner and our common stedclelisted, it could be more difficult to buy alsour common stock and obtain accu
guotations, and the price of our stock could sudfenaterial decline. Delisting may also impair ability to raise capital.

Our share price is volatile, and you may not be albd resell our shares at a profit or at all.
The market prices for securities of biopharmaceaiitend biotechnology companies, and eathge drug discovery and developn
companies like us in particular, have historicégen highly volatile and may continue to be higtdiatile in the future. The following facto

in addition to other risk factors described in théxtion, may have a significant impact on the rtapkice of our common stock:

e the development status of any drug candidates, aschcelna, including clinical study results andedwinations by regulat
authorities with respect thereto;

e the initiation, termination, or reduction in theope of any collaboration arrangements (such asla@vents involving Merck and
Option Agreement, including a decision by Mercketercise or not exercise the Option) or any dispotedevelopments regarc
such collaborations;

e announcements of technological innovations, nemroercial products or other material events bycaumpetitors or us;

e disputes or other developments concerning oysr@tary rights;

e changes in, or failure to meet, securities anglys investors’ expectations of our financial foemance;

e additions or departures of key personnel;

e discussions of our business, products, financigiopmance, prospects or stock price by the findreia scientific press and on
investor communities;

e public concern as to, and legislative action wibpect to, the pricing and availability of prestidp drugs or the safety of drugs
drug delivery techniques;

e regulatory developments in the United Statesiaridreign countries; or

e dilutive effects of sales of shares of common stogkus or our shareholders, and sales of commark stoquired upon exercist
conversion by the holders of warrants, optionsamvertible notes

Broad market and industry factors, as well as egpo@nd political factors, also may materially achady affect the market price of ¢
common stock.

We may be or become the target of securities lifigia, which is costly and time-consuming to defend.

In the past, following periods of market volatilily the price of a comparny’securities or the reporting of unfavorable nesesurity
holders have often instituted class action litigati If the market value of our securities expereeradverse fluctuations and we bec
involved in this type of litigation, regardless thie outcome, we could incur substantial legal casi$ our managementattention could t
diverted from the operation of our business, causimr business to suffer.

Our “blank check” preferred stock could be issued to prevent a busse&ombination not desired by management or our omiy
shareholders

Our charter authorizes the issuance of “blank chec&ferred stock with such designations, rights aredlerences as may be determine
our Board of Directors without shareholder approv@ur preferred stock could be utilized as a methiodiscouraging, delaying, or prevent
a change in our control and as a method of prevgrshareholders from receiving a premium for tls@i@res in connection with a chang



control.
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Future sales of our securities could cause dilutioand the sale of such securities, or the perceptibat such sales may occur, could ca
the price of our stock to fall.

In July 2012, we closed a private offering conegtof convertible secured notes and warrants tohmse common stock which gener:
approximately $4.1 million in gross proceeds, ofchimotes in the aggregate principal amount of $300@ were converted into shares of Se
A convertible preferred stock which, in turn, weenverted into an aggregate of 288,229 sharesrafrmin stock. The remaining notes w
converted into an aggregate of 1,714,697 sharesminon stock at $1.91 per share on September 248. Zorom November 2012 throu
January 2013, we sold an aggregate of 390,000skatdgncoln Park pursuant to the $1.5 million fhase agreement and issued an addit
56,507 shares as initial commitment shares andb358res as additional commitment shares. In JarBtH3, we issued $650,000 princi
amount of unsecured convertible promissory notegha¢h $100,000 was converted into 77,034 shareswimon stock at $1.298125 per sl
during February 2013 and the remaining $550,000rmicipal amount plus accrued interest was repaiihd February 2013. Purchaser:
such notes also received fiyear warrants to acquire an aggregate of 243,7&feshof our common stock at an exercise price ®45pe
share. In February 2013, we sold an aggregate 618 shares of our common stock pursuant to thil Agreement for gross proceeds
$536,417. On February 11, 2013, we closed on fering of 1,083,334 shares of common stock and amdsrto purchase 541,668 share
common stock for gross proceeds of $3.25 millionnet proceeds of approximately $3.0 million aftieducting commissions and offer
expenses. On August 13, 2013, we closed an offefidg@ million shares of common stock for grossceexds of $18 million, or net proceed
approximately $16.2 million after deducting undeting discounts and commissions and offering expenand we granted the underwrite
30-day option to purchase up to an additional liiom shares of common stock to cover oadiotments. During September 2013,
underwriters of the August 2013 underwritten publiiering exercised the ovediotment option granted to them which resultethie issuanc
of an additional 900,000 shares of common stockgfoss proceeds of $1.35 million, or net proceefdapproximately $1.2 million aft
deducting underwriting discounts and commissioris@ffering expenses. On December 23, 2013, wesdlas offering of 4,738,000 share
common stock, including the full exercise of theeeallotment option granted to the underwriters, rajsyross proceeds of $8.1 million or
proceeds of approximately $7.3 million after dethgtthe underwriting discounts and commission afiéring expenses. Between Marct
2014 and August 1, 2014, we generated gross angroeteds of $152,687 and $148,103, respectivelysates of an aggregate of 91,
shares of our common stock under the new ATM Agesgm

Sales of additional shares of our common stockyels as securities convertible into or exercisatdle common stock, could result
substantial dilution to our shareholders and caheemarket price of our common stock to decline aggregate of 27,753,172 share
common stock were outstanding as of August 1, 208st.of such date, another (i) 2,465,691 sharesoofimon stock were issuable uj
exercise of outstanding options and (ii) 3,069,Eh&res of common stock were issuable upon the isgenf outstanding warrants.
substantial majority of the outstanding shares wf common stock are freely tradable without restic or further registration under
Securities Act of 1933.

We may sell additional shares of common stock, el ag securities convertible into or exercisabledommon stock, in subsequent pu
or private offerings. We may also issue additiosteires of common stock, as well as securitiesartible into or exercisable for comm
stock, to finance future acquisitions. Among otheguirements, we will need to raise significantliidnal capital in order to complete
Phase llb clinical study of Tcelna in SPMS, and thiay require us to issue a substantial amourg@frities (including common stock as v
as securities convertible into or exercisable funmon stock). There can be no assurance thatapitatraising efforts will be able to attr
the capital needed to execute on our businessagpldrsustain our operations. Moreover, we canndtigréhe size of future issuances of
common stock, as well as securities convertible artexercisable for common stock, or the effdainy, that future issuances and sales o
securities will have on the market price of our coom stock. Sales of substantial amounts of ourncom stock, as well as securi
convertible into or exercisable for common stockcluding shares issued in connection with an adiprisor securing funds to complete
clinical trial plans, or the perception that sueles could occur, may result in substantial dilutemd may adversely affect prevailing ma
prices for our common stock.

Under the $1.5 million purchase agreement and $tilllon purchase agreement with Lincoln Park, waymdirect Lincoln Park 1
purchase up to $16.5 million of shares of commonlstsubject to certain limitations and conditiooger a 30month period. We have sold
aggregate of 390,000 shares to date under thendillidn purchase agreement. Additionally, we igsléncoln Park 56,507 shares of comr
stock as initial commitment shares and have issuedggregate of 3,585 additional commitment shaued,may in the future issue up tc
additional 109,428 shares of common stock as asditicommitment shares, as a fee for its commitrteepurchase the shares under the
million purchase agreement and the $15.0 milliorcpase agreement. The purchase price for the stizmewe may sell to Lincoln Park v
fluctuate based on the price of our common stockather factors determined by us. As such, Lin¢tdink may ultimately purchase all, sc
or none of the shares of our common stock issyallsuant to the purchase agreements after thehdadef and, after it has acquired sh:
Lincoln Park may sell all, some or none of thosareb. Therefore, sales to Lincoln Park by us mnsto either or both of the purch
agreements could result in substantial dilutiorth® interests of other holders of our common stok#ditionally, the sale of a substan
number of shares of our common stock to LincolrkPar the anticipation of such sales, could cabsettading price of our common stocl
decline and could make it more difficult for usstll equity or equity-related securities in theufet
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We presently do not intend to pay cash dividendsoon common stock.

We currently anticipate that no cash dividends tdlpaid on the common stock in the foreseeabiledutWhile our dividend policy w
be based on the operating results and capital refetie business, it is anticipated that all eagsjnif any, will be retained to finance the ful
expansion of our business.

Our shareholders may experience substantial dilutim the value of their investment if we issue atidhal shares of our capital stock.

Our charter allows us to issue up to 100,000,0@8eshof our common stock and to issue and desighatdghts of, without shareholt
approval, up to 10,000,000 shares of preferredkstéit order to raise additional capital, we maythe future offer additional shares of
common stock or other securities convertible int@xchangeable for our common stock at prices it not be the same as the price
share paid by other investors, and dilution toshareholders could result. We may sell shareshar @ecurities in any other offering at a p
per share that is less than the price per shadehyainvestors, and investors purchasing sharesher securities in the future could have ri
superior to existing shareholders. The price fre at which we sell additional shares of our camratock, or securities convertible
exchangeable into common stock, in future transastmay be higher or lower than the price per spaig by other investors.

We may issue debt and equity securities or seasittonvertible into equity securities, any of whiotay be senior to our common stock a:
distributions and in liquidation, which could negately affect the value of our common stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our eapitsources by entering into debt or déte-financing that is unsecured or secured b
to all of our assets, or by issuing additional debéquity securities, which could include issuancksecured or unsecured commercial p.
mediumierm notes, senior notes, subordinated notes, giems, preferred stock, hybrid securities, or sgesr convertible into ¢
exchangeable for equity securities. In the evérdgup liquidation, our lenders and holders of oebtdand preferred securities would rec
distributions of our available assets before distibns to the holders of our common stock. Beeamsr decision to incur debt and is
securities in future offerings may be influencedrbgirket conditions and other factors beyond outrobnwe cannot predict or estimate
amount, timing or nature of our future offeringsdebt financings. Further, market conditions caelguire us to accept less favorable term
the issuance of our securities in the future.

Our management has significant flexibility in usingur current available cash.

In addition to general corporate purposes (inclgdivorking capital, research and development andatip@al purposes), we currer
intend to use our available cash to continue ogooorg Phase 1lb clinical study of Tcelna in SPM8e reached our enrollment target for
Abili-T trial in June 2014, and a total of 190 matis have been enrolled in this two-year study. eifgect togine data to be available in 1
second half of 2016. Our existing resources ateadequate to permit us to complete such study.wWaeed to secure significant additio
resources to complete the trial and support ouratjpss during the pendency of the trial.

Depending on future developments and circumstangesmay use some of our available cash for othepgaes which may have 1
potential to decrease the forecasted cash runiaywithstanding our current intention to use ouaitable cash for further clinical studies
Tcelna, our management will have significant fléit§pin using our current available cash. Theumttamounts and timing of expenditures
vary significantly depending on a number of factdngluding the amount and timing of cash used un operations and our research
development efforts. Managemenfailure to use these funds effectively would haweadverse effect on the value of our common stoc
could make it more difficult and costly to raiseéls in the future.

38




Iltem 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit
No. Description

10.1* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and &t®ption Agreement for awards granted under tH2Z8tock Incentive Plan, as
amended and restate

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

101* Financial statements from the Quarterly ReparForm 10-Q of the Company for the period endigue 30, 2014, formatted in
Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL):C@nsolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) ConsolidateteStants of Operations; (iii)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholHgtsty; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Floaval (v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statemer

* Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ Neil K. Warma
Neil K. Warma
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ Karthik Radhakrishnan
Karthik Radhakrishnan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit
No. Description

10.1* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and &t®ption Agreement for awards granted under tH2Z8tock Incentive Plan, as
amended and restate

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

101* Financial statements from the Quarterly ReparForm 10-Q of the Company for the period endigue 30, 2014, formatted in
Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL):C@nsolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Consolidatete8tants of Operations;

(i) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stolddrs' Equity; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cillws; and (v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statemer

* Filed herewith



Exhibit 10.1

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2010 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

You have been granted the following Option to pasghCommon Stock of Opexa Therapeutics, Inc. @weripany”) under the
Company’s Amended and Restated 2010 Stock InceRtas (the “Plan”):

Name of Optionee: [[FIRSTNAME]] [[LASTNAME]]
Total Number of Option Shares Granted: [[SHARESGRANTED]]
Type of Option: Incentive Stock Optic
O Nonstatutory Stock Optic
Exercise Price Per Share: S 1]
Grant Date: [ _,201
Vesting Commencement Date; [ _,201
Vesting Schedule; The Shares subject to this Option become exeresaldr a four-year

period, with 25% vesting on the one-year annivgrséithe Vesting
Commencement Date and the remaining 75% vestiequal
increments quarterly thereafter (in arrears) okierremaining three
years, subject to continuous Service from the YigsBommencemel
Date.

Vesting Acceleration: The Shares will become fully vested if your Seniceerminated by th
Company without “Cause” following a “Change in Can{’ as
described in the Stock Option Agreeme

Expiration Date: [ __,201__]. This Option expires earligiour Service
terminates earlier, as described in the Stock @ptigreement

By your signature and the signature of the Company representative below, you and the Company agrebdt this Option is
granted under and governed by the term and conditins of the Plan and the Stock Option Agreement (thGAgreement”), both of which
are attached to and made a part of this document.

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




By signing this document you further agree that theCompany may deliver by e-mail all documents relatig to the Plan or this
Award (including without limitation, prospectuses required by the Securities and Exchange Commissioand all other documents that
the Company is required to deliver to its securityholders (including without limitation, annual reports and proxy statements). You also
agree that the Company may deliver these documeniy posting them on a website maintained by the Conamy or by a third party
under contract with the Company. If the Company pats these documents on a website, it will notify udoy e-mail.

OPTIONEE: OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By:

Optioners Signature

[[FIRSTNAME]] [[LASTNAME]] Title: President & CEC
Optione(s Printed Nam:

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICcE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




Tax Treatment

Vesting

Term

Regular
Termination

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2010 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

This Option is intended to be an incentive stogltam under Section 422 of the Internal RevenueeGaca
nonstatutory option, as provided in the Notice tfc8 Option Grant. Even if this Option is desigmbas an
incentive stock option, it shall be deemed to @m@statutory option to the extent required by thed000

annual limitation under Section 422(d) of the InsrRevenue Cod

This Option becomes exercisable in installmentshasvn in the Notice of Stock Option Grant. Theu®ls
will become fully vested if your Service is termied by the Company without “Cause” following a Chan
in Control (as defined in the Plan), so long as grecute and deliver a general release (in a castofarm
provided by the Company) of all claims against@menpany or persons affiliated with the Company imith
forty-five (45) days following the date of termiiat, or such shorter period as the Company mayirequ
(with any potential revocation periods having eggd): “Cause” means (A) you commit a felony or aeot
crime involving moral turpitude; (B) you fail to iméain an immigration status which allows you torvon
the United States; (C) you materially violate afiyh@ Company’s rules and regulations (includinghaut
limitation, the rules of conduct) or any other p@s and practices established by the Board ofciirs;

(D) you materially violate any agreement with then@pany (including, without limitation, any Propaey
Information and Inventions Agreement); (E) you tailexercise reasonable efforts to perform duties
consistent with your position with the Company [irting, without limitation, as reasonably instruttey
the CEO) and such failure has not been cured wi#ir(10) days of notice to such effect from the
Company; or (F) you commit any breach of fiducidugy or misconduct that is likely to cause a materi
adverse effect upon the financial condition or bass operations of the Company.

This Option will in no event become exercisableddditional Shares after your Service has termihiie
any reason

This Option expires in any event at the closeusfihess at Company headquarters on the 10th asaiyer
of the Grant Date, as shown on the Notice of S@pkion Grant (fifth anniversary for a more than 10%
stockholder as provided under the Plan if thisisn@entive stock option). This Option may expieglier if
your Service terminates, as described be

If your Service terminates for any reason exceptlder “Total and Permanent Disabilitydq defined in th
Plan), then this Option will expire at the closebabiness at Company headquarters on the date(8)ree

months after the date your Service terminatesf(esrlier, the Expiration Date). The Company detiges

when your Service terminates for this purpose dingligposes under the Plan and its determinatioas a

conclusive and binding on all perso

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




Death

Disability

Leaves of Absenci

Restrictions on
Exercise

Notice of Exercise

If your Service terminates because of death, thisnQption will expire at the close of busines€ampany
headquarters on the date 12 months after the dareService terminates (or, if earlier, the Expoat
Date). During that period of up to 12 months, yestate or heirs may exercise the Opt

If your Service terminates because of your Tatal Bermanent Disability, then this Option will esepat
the close of business at Company headquarterseothatie 12 months after the date your Service textedén
(or, if earlier, the Expiration Date

For purposes of this Option, your Service doeg@mhinate when you go on a military leave, a sedvke o
anotherbona fide leave of absence, if the leave was approved bgZtmpany in writing and if continued
crediting of Service is required by the terms & ksave or by applicable law. But your Service ieates
when the approved leave ends, unless you immegliagtirn to active work

If you go on a leave of absence, then the vestihgdule specified in the Notice of Stock Option iraay
be adjusted in accordance with the Company’s lehabsence policy or the terms of your leave. I yo
commence working on a part-time basis, then théngschedule specified in the Notice of Stock Opti
Grant may be adjusted in accordance with the Cogipgart-time work policy or the terms of an
agreement between you and the Company pertainipguopar-time schedule

The Company will not permit you to exercise thigiopif the issuance of Shares at that time woubtbate

any law or regulation. The inability of the Companyobtain approval from any regulatory body having

authority deemed by the Company to be necessdhetawful issuance and sale of the Company stock
pursuant to this Option shall relieve the Compaigny liability with respect to the non-issuancesate of

the Company stock as to which such approval slvalhave been obtaine

When you wish to exercise this Option you mustte a notice of exercise form in accordance witbhs
procedures as are established by the Company amehgoicated to you from time to time. Any notice of
exercise must specify how many Shares you wishutohase and how your Shares should be registered.
The notice of exercise will be effective when itégeived by the Company. If someone else wants to
exercise this Option after your death, that persost prove to the Company’s satisfaction that heheris
entitled to do sc

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




Form of Payment

Withholding
Taxes and Stock
Withholding

When you submit your notice of exercise, you ningude payment of the Option exercise price fer th
Shares you are purchasing. Payment may be mabe foltowing form(s):

Your personal check, a casl’s check or a money ordt

Certificates for Shares that you own, alonthveiny forms needed to effect a transfer of thds&s to
the Company. The value of the Shares, determined the effective date of the Option exercise, will
be applied to the Option exercise price. Insteasliofendering Shares, you may attest to the owipersh
of those Shares on a form provided by the Compardyhave the same number of Shares subtracted
from the Shares issued to you upon exercise oDfiteon. However, you may not surrender or attest t
the ownership of Shares in payment of the exemiige if your action would cause the Company to
recognize a compensation expense (or additionapeasation expense) with respect to this Option fo

financial reporting purpose

e By delivery on a form approved by the Compahgn irrevocable direction to a securities broker
approved by the Company to sell all or part of $trares that are issued to you when you exercise thi
Option and to deliver to the Company from the gpateeeds an amount sufficient to pay the Option
exercise price and any withholding taxes. The laf the sale proceeds, if any, will be deliveied
you. The directions must be given by providing dasoof exercise form approved by the Comp:

e By delivery on a form approved by the Compahwgn irrevocable direction to a securities broder
lender approved by the Company to pledge Sharésitbassued to you when you exercise this Optiot
as security for a loan and to deliver to the Comyfamm the loan proceeds an amount sufficient tp pa
the Option exercise price and any withholding taXé® directions must be given by providing a re
of exercise form approved by the Compe

* Any other form permitted by the Committee in it$esdiscretion

Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment may not lz@eiin any form that is unlawful, as determinedhs
Committee in its sole discretio

You will not be allowed to exercise this Option esg you make arrangements acceptable to the Cony
pay any withholding taxes that may be due as altredguthis Award or the Option exercise. Th
arrangements, at the sole discretion of the Compiamay include (a) having the Company withhold t:
from the proceeds of the sale of the Shares, eftireugh a voluntary sale or through a mandatotg
arranged by the Company (on your behalf pursuattisoauthorization), (b) having the Company witld
Shares that otherwise would be issued to you wlmenexercise this Option having a Fair Market V
equal to the amount necessary to satisfy the mimnstatutory withholding amount, or (c) any o
arrangement approved by the Company. The Fair darklue of any Shares withheld, determined :
the effective date of the Option exercise, willdpplied as a credit against the withholding taxésu alsc
authorize the Company, or your actual employesatisfy all withholding obligations of the Compaaos
your actual employer with respect to this Awardnfrgour wages or other cash compensation paya
you by the Company or your actual employ

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




Restrictions on
Resale

Transfer of Option

You agree not to sell any Shares at a time whelicaipte laws, Company policies or an agreement et
the Company and its underwriters prohibit a sakas Testriction will apply as long as your Service
continues and for such period of time after thenteation of your Service as the Company may spe

In general, only you can exercise this Option ptioyour death. You may not sell, transfer, assp@dge
or otherwise dispose of this Option, other thadesignated by you by will or by the laws of descamd
distribution, except as provided below. For insegnou may not use this Option as security foraaldf
you attempt to do any of these things, this Optihimmediately become invalid. You may in any ev
dispose of this Option in your will. Regardlessaofy marital property settlement agreement, the Gomyp
is not obligated to honor a notice of exercise fygoar former spouse, nor is the Company obligated t
recognize your former spol’s interest in your Option in any other wi

However, if this Option is designated as a ndosbay stock option in the Notice of Stock Optiona@t,
then the Committee may, in its sole discretiorgwaliou to transfer this Option as a gift to onemare
family members. For purposes of this Agreemeninifa member” means a child, stepchild, grandchild,
parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, formesspsibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, fatinelaw,
son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, ortsisin-law (including adoptive relationships), any
individual sharing your household (other than atgror employee), a trust in which one or morehete
individuals have more than 50% of the beneficitdiast, a foundation in which you or one or mor¢heke
persons control the management of assets, andndityyia which you or one or more of these persows
more than 50% of the voting intere

In addition, if this Option is designated as astatutory stock option in the Notice of Stock ©@ptiGrant,
then the Committee may, in its sole discretiomwaliou to transfer this option to your spouse onter
spouse pursuant to a domestic relations ordetrtileseent of marital property right

The Committee will allow you to transfer this @pt only if both you and the transferee(s) exethge
forms prescribed by the Committee, which include¢bnsent of the transferee(s) to be bound by this
Agreement

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




Retention Rights

Stockholder
Rights

Adjustments

Successors ant
Assigns

Notice

Applicable Law

The Plan and
Other Agreements

Neither your Option nor this Agreement gives yoe tight to be employed or retained by the Compargy
subsidiary of the Company in any capacity. The Camypand its subsidiaries reserve the right to teatei
your Service at any time, with or without cau

Your Options carry neither voting rights nor righdsdividends. You, or your estate or heirs, haveights
as a stockholder of the Company unless and untilhave exercised this Option by giving the required
notice to the Company and paying the exercise pNoeadjustments will be made for dividends or othe
rights if the applicable record date occurs befare exercise this Option, except as describedarian.

In the event of a stock split, a stock dividengaimilar change in Company Shares, the numb8hafes
covered by this Option and the exercise price paré&shall be adjusted pursuant to the F

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or thiss&gient, every term of this Agreement shall beibind
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hesatbtheir respective heirs, legatees, legal reptatves,
successors, transferees and ass

Any notice required or permitted under this Agreatshall be given in writing and shall be deemed
effectively given upon the earliest of personahagl, receipt or the third full day following maily with
postage and fees prepaid, addressed to the otitgheaeto at the address last known in the Comjgany
records or at such other address as such partydesgnate by ten (10) days’ advance written ndtdhe
other party heretc

This Agreement will be interpreted and enforcedearrthe laws of the State of Delaware (without rdda
their choicrof-law provisions)

The text of the Plan is incorporated in this Agreatrby reference. All capitalized terms in the Agrent
shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Pkds Agreement and the Plan constitute the entir

understanding between you and the Company regatidim@ption. Any prior agreements, commitments o

negotiations concerning this Option are supersetied. Agreement may be amended by the Committee
without your consent; however, if any such amendmeruld materially impair your rights or obligatien
under the Agreement, this Agreement may be ameodgcy another written agreement, signed by you
and the Compan
BY SIGNING THE COVER SHEET OF THIS AGREEMENT,
YOU AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS
DESCRIBED ABOVE AND IN THE PLAN.

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT




OPEXA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2010 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
NOTICE OF CASH EXERCISE OF STOCK OPTION
OPTIONEE INFORMATION:

Name: Social Security Number:

Address: Employee Number:

OPTION INFORMATION:

Date of Grant , 201 Type of Stock Option
Exercise Price per Share: $ [1___Nonstatutory (NSO
Total number of Shares off®xA THERAPEUTICS INC. [ Incentive (1ISO)

(the*Compan™) covered by option:

Number of Shares of the Company for which optiobaig exercised nov (“Purchased Shares”).
Total exercise price for the Purchased Shares: $

Form of payment enclosed

Check for $ , payable to “Opexa Therapeutics, Inc.”

Name(s) in which the Purchased Shares should listesgd:

The certificate for the Purchased Shares shoukkheto the following
address:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:

1. | understand that all sales of Purchased Sharesubject to compliance with the Comp’s policy on securities trade

2. | hereby acknowledge that | received and reealg of the prospectus describing the Company’®Aaded and Restated 2010 Stock
Incentive Plan and the tax consequences of anisge

3. In the case of a nonstatutory option, | un@@dthat | must recognize ordinary income equéhéospread between the fair market valug
of the Purchased Shares on the date of exercistharakercise price. | further understand that Iraquired to pay withholding taxes at
the time of exercising a nonstatutory opti

4, In the case of an incentive stock option, kago notify the Company if | dispose of the PusglthShares before | have met both of the
tax holding periods applicable to incentive stopkians (that is, if | make a disqualifying dispdmit).

SIGNATURE AND DATE:

, 201

OPEXA THERAPEUTICS INC.
NoTICE oF Stock OPTION GRANT



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Neil K. Warma, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Forr-Q of Opexa Therapeutics, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nistauisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihare responsible for establishing and maintagjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13¢-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant
d. Disclosed in this report any change in #ggtrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affectedis reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegjistrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; an
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and materialakkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disa role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ Neil K. Warma

Neil K. Warma
President and Chief Executive Offic



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Karthik Radhakrishnan, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Forr-Q of Opexa Therapeutics, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nistauisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)daihare responsible for establishing and maintagjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13¢-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
a. Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissalisclosure controls and procedures and predentthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant
d. Disclosed in this report any change in #ggtrant’s internal control over financial repogdithat occurred during the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affectedis reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegjistrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; an
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and materialakkeesses in the design or operation of internairobaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have disa role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: August 14,2014 By: /s/ Karthik Radhakrishnan

Karthik Radhakrishnan
Chief Financial Office



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Opexai#peutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q fo¥ period ending June 30, 2014
(the “Report”), as filed with the Securities andcEange Commission on the date hereof, |, Neil Krida President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I€S81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 of the S8asb@xley Act of 2002, to the best of my
knowledge, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ Neil K. Warma
Neil K. Warma

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Opexai#peutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q fo¥ period ending June 30, 2014
(the “Report”), as filed with the Securities andcBange Commission on the date hereof, |, KarthifHaarishnan, Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1380adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-OxdegpfR002, to the best of my
knowledge, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2. The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: August 14, 2014 By: /s/ Karthik Radhakrishnan

Karthik Radhakrishnan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



